## Evaluation and study on the adhesion of powder onto punch faces during tablet compaction

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty

of

**Drexel University** 

by

James V Thomas

in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree

of

Master of Science in Materials Engineering

June 2015



© Copyright 2015

James V. Thomas. All Rights Reserved.

Dedications

To my beautiful daughter, Abrielle Sarah Thomas

AND

To my loving wife, Nissy Thomas

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my thesis advisor, Dr. Antonios Zavaliangos. The work conducted in this thesis would not have been possible without his continuous guidance, expertise and support. I am sincerely thankful to Dr. Zavaliangos for the numerous discussions we had which enabled me to improve the quality of the text in my thesis and the supporting experimentation conducted.

I would also like to thank Sean Garner who at the time of writing is a PhD candidate at Drexel University for the several discussions we had on topics discussed in this thesis. I would also like to thank Henrietta Tsosie who at the time of writing is a PhD candidate at Drexel University for her support in conducting SEM analysis and for the several discussions we had on topics discussed in this thesis. I would also like to thank the faculty, staff, and students in the Department of Materials Science & Engineering, for the help with use of university equipment and for the support provided to ensure completion of my thesis.

I would also like to express my sincere thanks to GlaxoSmithKline for generously allowing me to use equipment and materials necessary for the experimentation conducted in support of my thesis. I would like to specially thank Dr. Kimberly Lamey and Dr. Marc Galop for all the support they provided in me obtaining my Master's degree.

I would like to thank Dr. Charles Kettler director of Natoli Scientific for the several productive conversations we had relating to this work and for kindly helping me with the design and purchase of removable punch tips. I would also like to thank Matthew P. Mullarney, Senior Principal Scientist at Pfizer for the initial discussions we had on the details of designing a removable punch tip.

List of Tables	v
List of figures	vi
Abstract	x
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1: Motivation	1
1.2: Aims	3
1.3: Specific Goals	3
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND & LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1: Scrapper force measurements	5
2.2: Atomic Force Microscopy	9
2.3: Punch surface	13
2.4: Tablet surface	17
2.5: Punch force measurements	19
2.6: Moisture and Triboelectric Charging	24
2.7: Centrifugal methods	26
2.8: Molecular interaction	29
2.9: Weighing methods	31
2.10: Magnesium Stearate	35
2.11: Techniques used to measure sticking	36
2.12: Parameters reported to affect sticking	38
CHAPTER 3: METHODS & MATERIALS	42
3.1: Punch tip specifications and characterization	42
3.2: Equipment and materials	45
3.3: Blending procedures	46
3.4: Testing procedure	48
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS & OBSERVATIONS	51
4.1: Evaluation of blend containing 30% Ibuprofen	51
4.2: Evaluation of blend containing 30% micronized Ibuprofen	57
4.3: Evaluation of blend containing 30% Acetylsalicylic Acid	61
4.4: Evaluation of blend containing 21% Compound X - Batch 1	64
4.5: Evaluation of blend containing 21% Compound X - Batch 2	68
4.6: Evaluation of blend containing 21% Compound X - Batch 3	71

## **Table of Contents**

4.7: Evaluation of powder containing 100% Ibuprofen	74
4.8: Key observations	77
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	79
5.1: Patterns in sticking	79
5.2: Pressure dependence	80
5.3: Fragmentation and particle size	81
5.4: Triboelectric charging	84
5.5: Observations on surfaces of tablets and punch	87
5.6: Temperature	90
5.7: Punch cleaning	91
5.8: Capping and sticking	92
5.9: Removable punch tip	93
CHAPTER 6: FUTURE WORK	96
6.1: Patterns in sticking	96
6.2: Fragmentation	99
6.3: Triboelectric charging	101
CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSIONS	104
List of References	106
Appendix A: Moisture Sorption of Ibuprofen.	112
Appendix B: Thermal data on Ibuprofen.	113
Appendix C: Moisture Sorption of Acetylsalicylic Acid	114
Appendix D: Photomicrographs of Acetylsalicylic Acid	115
Appendix E: Particle size of micronized MCC	116
Appendix F: SEM of Ibuprofen	117
Appendix G: Effect of solvent on sticking	118
Appendix H: Sticking in 100% ibuprofen	119
Appendix I: Particle size of Acetylsalicylic Acid	120
Appendix J: List of Acronyms.	121

## List of Tables

43
45

# List of figures

Figure 1 – (A) Showing a cross-section schematic of tablet compression. (B) Showing the appearance of a punch face affected by sticking after a few compression cycles.
<ul> <li>(C) Showing the appearance of the punch face after several compression cycles</li></ul>
force measurement. (B) Compressed material can be partially extruded into the tolerance space between the punch and the die. Extruded material will fracture as tablet is pushed off the punch face. The force required to cause this fracture
will contribute to the scrapper force measurement
Figure 3 – Schematic representation of the results reported by Saniocki et al (56). Showing
the measurement of adhered weight on punch tip and scrapper force as a
function of ibuprofen content
Figure 4 – Schematic representation of the results reported by Bunker et al (1). Showing
the adhesion force measurements of lactose on various punch faces as a function
of relative humidity
Figure 5 – Schematic representation of results reported by Roberts et al (9). Showing the
sticking
Figure 6 – Schematic representation of the results reported by Toyoshima et al (20). Left:
plot showing the change in tablet surface roughness vs. tablet number. The slope
of a regression line of the curve is termed the sticking parameter. Right: plot
showing change in sticking parameter vs. lubricant (magnesium stearate) content
for lactose formulations at varying blending times and compaction forces
Figure 7 – (a) A simplified schematic illustrating the technique of slipping force measurement described by Shunichi and Koichi (18). (b) Schematic
Figure 8 Schematic illustration of the instrumented lower pull down cam reported by
Figure $\delta$ – Schematic indication of the instrumented lower pull down call reported by Goodbart et al (3). An instrumented holt fastened to the lower cam measures the
force required to the pull the lower punch down as it travels the guide track of
the cam
Figure 9 – Schematic illustration of an instrumented upper punch reported by Waimer et
al (21). The tip of the punch contains a steel membrane. A steel disk inside the
punch body is fixed on to the membrane and is connected to a strain gauge
Figure 10 – Schematic representation of the data reported by Shimada et al (15). Fine
particles adhered to the surfaces of tablets are removed by centrifugal and
impact separation method. The particles are removed off the tablet surface given
sufficient force either by increasing centrifugal or impact velocity. The 'Residual
Percent represents the % number of particles remaining adhered to the tablet
surface. The mean particle sizes are observed to be between 5-20 $\mu$ m even when 29 the residual fractions are reduced to ~10%
Figure 11 – Schematic representation of the data reported by Mullarney et al (30)
Showing the sticking profile of 20% ibuprofen blends containing MCC and varving
levels of MgSt
ieveis of Migst

Figure 12 – Photographs of the punch with removable punch tip. Left: disassembled view.	
Right: the punch tip is fastened to the punch body using a set screw	42
Figure 13 – Schematic drawings of punch tips and their properties.	43
Figure 14 – Surface profile of punch tips using an optical profilometer. PV (minimum peak	
minus maximum valley), RMS (Root Mean Square roughness), RA (Average	
roughness), Size X (scan length in x-direction), Size Y (scan length in y-direction)	44
Figure 15 – Photomicrographs of the punch tips. Showing the area scanned by the optical	
profilometer	44
Figure 16 – Particle size distribution of micronized and non-micronized Ibuprofen	46
Figure 17 – Data obtained for 30% IBU formulation.	53
Figure 18 – Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 30% IBU formulation	54
Figure 19 – SEM images of the top surface of tablet #50 from the 30% IBU study. Left: low	
magnification image showing both the reflective region on the tablet and the	
region affected by sticking. A contour is drawn on the image to help identify the	
boundary between the two regions which is otherwise difficult to observe. Right:	
magnified image showing the two regions	55
Figure 20 – SEM image showing the surface of the adhered material on the punch face for	
the 30% IBU formulation after the 450 <sup>th</sup> compression cycle	55
Figure 21 – (A) Stitched SEM image of the top face of Tablet #49 from 30% IBU Study. (B)	
Photograph of punch face after cycle #50. (C) Photograph of upper punch face	
after cycle #50 with coordinates. (D) Photograph of the top face of tablet #50. (E)	
Photograph of the top face of tablet #50 with coordinates	56
Figure 22 – Data obtained for 30% IBU-MIC formulation	58
Figure 23 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 30% IBU-MIC formulation.	59
Figure 24 – Stitched SEM image of the top face of Tablet #2 and #5 from 30% IBU-MIC	
Study. The bright regions are the surfaces of MCC particles while the dark regions	
consists of ibuprofen, MgSt and surface cavities.	60
Figure 25 – Data obtained for 30% ASA formulation	62
Figure 26 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 30% ASA formulation.	63
Figure 27 – Schematic of tablet shape for compound X	64
Figure 28 – Reclaimed material from the 21% X-B1 formulation was sieved using a sieve	
with a 600 $\mu$ m opening (30 mesh). Compacted plate-shaped fragments are	
observed in the reclaimed powder	65
Figure 29 – Data obtained for 21% X-B1 formulation	66
Figure 30 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 21% X-B1 formulation.	67
Figure 31 – Data obtained for 21% X-B2 formulation	69
Figure 32 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 21% X-B2 formulation.	70
Figure 33 – Data obtained for 21% X-B3 formulation	72
Figure 34 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 21% X-B3 formulation.	73
Figure 35 – SEM image of Ibuproten (as received from supplier).	75
Figure 36 – Particle size distribution of Ibuprofen used in the 100% IBU study. The	
secondary axis is showing the cumulative volume percent	75

	Figure 37 – Upper punch tip after 1 <sup>st</sup> compaction cycle with 100% Ibuprofen. Particles that
	are both minimally deformed and some that are heavily deformed are observed.
76	A few deformed particles are highlighted by a circle in the image.
	Figure 38–SEM image showing a heavily deformed particle after 1 <sup>st</sup> compaction cycle with
76	100% Ibuprofen
	Figure 39 – Compaction with 100% Ibuprofen. Note: the upper punch body covered with
77	fine particles adhered to its surface by static charge.
	Figure 40 – Schematic illustrating the filming and layering involved with sticking. The red
	blocks represent particles that make first contact with the punch face resulting in
	filming. The blue blocks represent particles that cause the layering and growth of
79	the adhered material
	Figure 41 – Particle size estimation by image analysis on the fine particles observed to
	adhere on to the surface of the larger particles of ibuprofen (as received from
	supplier). Mean size is calculated to be ~15 $\mu$ m. The zoomed inset image on the
82	left highlights a few surface particles included in the measurement
	Figure 42 – Particle size estimation by image analysis on an SEM image showing the
	surface of the adhered material on the punch face for the 30% IBU formulation
	after the 450 <sup>th</sup> compression cycle. The zoomed inset image on the left highlights
83	a few particles included in the measurement.
	Figure 43 – Showing the differences observed in die filling for the 30% IBU-MIC
	formulation. Die filling was observed to worsen with successive compression
	cycles. The images were captured just before the start of compression. The neck
	of the upper punch is observed to continually accumulate a dusting of fine
84	statically charged powder
	Figure 44 – Compaction of a single tablet of 100% ASA to a relative density of 0.92. (A)
	Showing the streaking of die wall by ASA. (B) Ejected tablet is coated with loose
	statically charged ASA particles that picked up from the die table. (C) Tablet was
86	air-dusted to remove loose particles.
	Figure 45 – SEM image of the top center of a tablet (30% IBU-MIC, cycle #2) consisting of
	30% micronized ibuprofen. The bright regions are flattened MCC particles and an
	example of this particle is shown in (A). The interstitial spaces between the MCC
	particles primarily consist of fragments of ibuprofen appearing as a slightly darker
	shade of gray as highlighted in (B) or surface cavities appearing dark regions as
88	highlighted in (C)
	Figure 46 – Schematic illustration of a compact consisting of ibuprofen and MCC. MCC is
	depicted as a networking mesh held together by making contact with neighboring
	MCC particles. Ibuprofen is depicted as the material contained within the mesh.
	The textured regions depict zones where fragmented ibuprofen that is in contact
89	with the punch face
	Figure 47 – (A) Showing the fractured pieces of a tablet after diametrical compression.
	The tablet is composed of 100% ibuprofen was compressed to a relative density
	of ~0.85. (B) Showing the punch tip with a capped region adhered to its face after
	compressing 100% ibuprofen to a relative density of 0.91. (C) Showing the surface
93	of the same capped tablet

Figure 48 – Schematic representation of the data reported by Tita et al (82) on ibuprofen	
and by Tita et al (83) on ASA. This plot shows the DSC thermograms of pure	
components and 1:1 mixtures of compound to excipient for ibuprofen and ASA	97

### Abstract Evaluation and study on the adhesion of powder onto punch faces during tablet compaction James V. Thomas

Sticking during tablet compaction is an issue that is commonly experienced during tablet manufacturing operations. The term 'Sticking' refers to a phenomenon that results in the adherence of materials onto the punch faces and die wall even after the tooling has left contact with the tablet. The occurrence of sticking during large scale tablet manufacture can produce defective tablets, halt manufacturing operations, and can be very costly. Currently, the mechanisms by which this phenomenon occurs is not clearly understood. However, numerous factors dealing with powder characteristics and instrumentation parameters are reported in literature to affect sticking. Therefore, sticking is a complex multifaceted phenomenon in which multiple factors can simultaneously contribute to the issue.

The aim of the work conducted in this thesis is to study the process of sticking. Ibuprofen was chosen as a model compound in this work as it is widely known to cause this issue. In addition, evaluation of the sticking propensity of Acetylsalicylic Acid (ASA) and of a confidential compound is also presented. A customized punch with a removable punch tip was used to quantify the mass of adhered material on the punch tip during tablet compaction. The effect of particle size on sticking with ibuprofen was evaluated. Formulations containing 30% ibuprofen (AS-IS) and 30% micronized ibuprofen with 0.5% magnesium stearate and 69.5% microcrystalline cellulose were tested.

Results with micronized ibuprofen showed a marked increase in sticking compared to non-micronized ibuprofen. Significant triboelectric charging was observed with micronized ibuprofen. Analysis of the adhered material on the punch tip by SEM reveals the presence of both heavily deformed particles and minimally deformed fragments that are on the size order of well below 50µm. Triboelectric charging was also demonstrated to occur upon compaction with ASA. Results suggest that that particle size, static charging and fragmentation may play important roles in the mechanism of sticking in ibuprofen formulations. Furthermore, it is observed that sticking in ibuprofen can be influenced by cleaning of punch faces by solvents and by capping defects in tablets.

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1: Motivation

Sticking during tablet compaction is a phenomenon that results in the adherence of material onto the punch faces and die wall even after the tooling has left contact with the tablet. The initial adherence of material onto the punch faces typically appear as a light dusting of fine powder, or as a fine film coating, or even as islands of adhered material. The quantity of adhered material on the punch faces can accumulate with successive compression cycles. The occurrence of this issue in a tablet formulation not only decreases the image quality of the tablet but can also cascade into a host of other issues such as weight variations in tablet, wasted material, increase in production delays and more importantly can become a very expensive issue.

A tablet formulation, also referred to as a compression blend typically consists of the active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) which is the active drug molecule and other components such as diluents, binders, lubricants and disintegrants. In general, this makes the formulation a multi-component and homogeneously distributed blend designed to produce a quality tablet and provide optimum performance in the human body. A tablet formulation is typically designed during Research and Development (R&D) activities. Sticking of formulations are not always evident during small scale operations in R&D. Often times, the existence of this issue in a formulation may only be discovered during large scale manufacturing at which point there is little that can be done regarding the composition of the formulation to mitigate the issue. Therefore, sticking can bring large scale manufacturing campaigns to a halt. Currently, sticking is not well understood and there is a great unmet need to develop techniques to properly select the best powder attributes that would minimize or eliminate this issue.

Sticking is a multi-faceted phenomenon because there are numerous factors that can simultaneously contribute to the issue. Sticking has been shown to be affected by several factors including compression speed, compression force, lubricant concentration, powder processing conditions, punch surface chemistry, punch surface roughness, punch geometry, moisture and temperature. Currently, there is truly a lack of the fundamental understanding of the mechanisms that lead to sticking.

Materials that exhibit sticking under compaction can have a wide range of behaviors. For example: Sticking in Tartaric acid and Malic acid can be alleviated by increasing the concentration of Magnesium Stearate (MgSt) in formulation however sticking in Mefenamic acid and Ibuprofen worsens with an increase in MgSt content. MgSt is one of the top excipients that is most used in tablet formulations as a lubricant, yet its effect on sticking is not clearly understood. Clearly, there must be various mechanisms by which sticking occurs.

There are several reports in literature on the topic of sticking. However, the mechanisms by which this phenomenon occurs is clearly not understood. By scoping through the vast amount of literature on this topic, one can certainly find clues or factors that are suspect in their involvement with sticking. And these factors can be used as a starting point to formulate well thought out controlled experiments in order to reveal the mechanisms of sticking. Doing so will allow scientists to effectively identify compounds and formulations that would minimize or eliminate sticking. Some of these interesting factors include: electrostatic forces, surface chemistry of crystals and punch faces, fragmentation of powders, formation of liquid capillary bridges, amorphization of powders during compaction, particle size, effect of temperature and low melting compounds, density distribution of compacts, role of lubricants and excipients.

#### 1.2: Aims

The overarching goal of this thesis is to provide experimental data and observations, and to study and discuss the mechanism of sticking. First, a literature review on the topic of sticking is presented. Secondly, the studies conducted in this work involving the sticking of various materials is also discussed. Ibuprofen was chosen as a model compound in this work because it is well known to cause sticking and there also exists a vast amount of literature on the study of this material. In addition, studies on the sticking of Acetylsalicylic Acid (ASA) and of a confidential compound are also presented.

#### 1.3: Specific Goals

The following is a list of specific goals attempted in the experimental portion of this work.

- 1. Examine the surface of tablets and punch tips, and document the events that occur at the very onset of sticking and also during its progression.
- 2. Study the influence of particle size on sticking in Ibuprofen formulations.
- 3. Evaluate the effect of lubricant type in formulations containing compound X.

#### **CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND & LITERATURE REVIEW**

Tablets are one of the most popular dosage forms used for drug delivery due to several reasons including the simplicity in manufacturing and competitive production costs. However the manufacturing of tablets is often met with various challenges related to the instrumentation used and the compacting material. Tabletting issues such as picking, sticking, capping and lamination can occur during the compaction process. Tabletting issues can arise due to several factors involving the formulation blend and compaction parameters but often times it's a combination of these factors that contribute to the failure. In some cases, such failure may not be evident during small scale tablet manufacturing and is only realized during large manufacturing campaigns which can result in costly delays, logistical issues with regulatory compliance and stoppage to product delivery. Therefore, this warrants an in-depth understanding of the mechanism of tablet failure in the microstructure of the compact. More importantly, there is a great need for techniques that can assess the propensity of a tablet formulation to undergo such failure prior to large scale manufacturing.



Figure 1 - (A) Showing a cross-section schematic of tablet compression. (B) Showing the appearance of a punch face affected by sticking after a few compression cycles. (C) Showing the appearance of the punch face after several compression cycles.

A basic schematic of tablet compression is shown in Figure 1A. During the tablet compression process, the formulation blend is first filled flush into the die. In a typical single ended compaction process, the top punch compresses the powder while the bottom punch remains stationary in the die. After the compression cycle, the top punch retracts and the tablet is ejected upwards by the lower punch. Sticking during tablet compaction is a phenomenon that results in the adherence of material onto the punch faces and die wall even after the tooling has left contact with the tablet. In this process, the material that sticks to the tooling, which should otherwise remain adhered to the tablet, can accumulate on the punch tip and lead to various tabletting issues. An example of sticking on the punch face is shown in Figure 1B and its progression or accumulation of adhered material is shown in Figure 1C.

The initial adherence of material onto the punch faces can appear as a light dusting of fine powder or as a fine film coating. The quantity of adhered material on the punch faces can accumulate with successive compression cycles. It is possible for chunks of accumulated material to come loose off the punch faces during compaction process and again continue to reaccumulate. The accumulation of material on the punch faces will constantly change the geometric profile of the compressing surface which can subsequently change the geometry of the final tablet. Sticking in tablet compaction is a complex phenomenon that can be contributed by one or many of several factors. Some factors are observed to correlate with the occurrence of sticking while others are observed to have a direct impact. Several techniques are also reported in literature that attempt to either predict, detect, quantify or somehow correlate with sticking.

#### 2.1: Scrapper force measurements

The measurement of scrapper force (SCR) is reported by many authors in literature as a factor that is somehow related to sticking (2,4,24,26,27,39,55,56). This type of measurement is

also referred to as sweep-off or take-off force and is the force required to push the tablet off the bottom punch face after ejection. The measurement of scrapper force is not an accurate measurement of the shear force between the tablet and the bottom punch face. If the punch face is not absolutely flat surface then the punch geometry would influence the measured scrapper force as shown schematically in Figure 2A. Compressed material can partially extrude into the tolerance cavity between the punch and the die. If the extruded lip of material still exists after ejection, then the lip will have to fracture in order to push the tablet off the punch face, see Figure 2B. The force required to fracture the lip can contribute to the measured scrape off force. Moreover, the speed of the die table and the mass of the tablet would have to be considered in order to account for the momentum for the tablet as it hits the scrapper bar.



Figure 2 – Schematic drawings illustrating factors that can affect scrapper force measurements. (A) The bevel edge of the punch tip contributes to the scrapper force measurement. (B) Compressed material can be partially extruded into the tolerance space between the punch and the die. Extruded material will fracture as tablet is pushed off the punch face. The force required to cause this fracture will contribute to the scrapper force measurement.

Although the scrapper force is related to the force of adhesion between the bottom

punch and the tablet, this measurement does not necessarily indicate or quantify sticking. Various

parameters can influence the force of adhesion between the tablet and the punch face which can

be detected by scrapper force measurements. In contrast, increasing adhesion forces have been shown to not result in sticking in sorbitol formulations (21). Both positive correlations and the lack thereof between SCR and sticking have been reported in literature. Danjo et al (2) studied the effects of moisture on sticking by measuring the scrapper force. In their study, granules containing Lactose and PVP K30 were dried to various moisture levels and compressed at different pressures. Their results showed that SCR increases as the moisture content in the granules increases to approximately 3% (w/w). Scrapper force is reported to decreases at moisture levels higher than 3%. SCR is also reported to increase with compression pressure at all tested moisture content levels (up to 6%).

Tablet surface roughness (TSR) measurements were also reported to correlate with SCR. Sticking typically results in a rough surface texture of the tablet which would otherwise appear smooth and reflective. Sticking in some formulations can result in a gradual increase in TSR while others may show variations in TSR. Therefore the measurement of surface roughness offer some reliability in at least detecting the presence of sticking and in some cases can be used to qualitatively measure the intensity of sticking (20). The results presented by Danjo et al (2) show a positive correlation between SCR and sticking.

Kakimi et al. (4) also reports positive correlation between SCR and sticking in granulated blends composed of n-Butyl p-hydroxybenzoate, lactose, aerosil and Hydroxypropylcellulose. The authors reported that SCR increased as compression velocity and binder concentration increased. SCR was also reported to decrease with increasing compression pressure. Tablet surface roughness (TSR) measurements were also reported to correlate with SCR. The authors state that the SCR and TSR measurements agreed with visual observations of sticking. Saniocki et al (56) demonstrated that take-off forces do not correlate with the phenomenon of sticking in Ibuprofen formulations. The authors used 10mm flat faced punches to make tablets on a rotary press. A force feeder was used to fill the die due to the poor flow of the ibuprofen blends tested. The blends consisted of either Ludipress or Microcelac as binding agents and magnesium stearate as lubricant. Ludipress is a combination of lactose and Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) while Microcelac is a combination of lactose and microcrystalline cellulose (MCC). Blends consisting of 50%, 70% and 90% ibuprofen were tested in their study. Sticking was quantified after producing 25 tablets of 300mg quantity compacted to a break strength of approximately 0.85Mpa.



Figure 3 – Schematic representation of the results reported by Saniocki et al (56). Showing the measurement of adhered weight on punch tip and scrapper force as a function of ibuprofen content.

The intensity of sticking on the lower punch face was quantified by High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) and UV-Visible spectroscopy. In this technique, the material adhered to the punch tip is removed and dissolved in a solvent (methanol in this case). The solution is then passed through a chromatography column in which the various dissolved components elute at different rates. Thus the eluting components including the analyte (ibuprofen in this case) is separated in time and passed through a UV-Visible light spectrophotometer. The magnitude of absorbance of the analyte at a specific wavelength is used to quantify the amount of analyte in the test solution. The authors state that prior experiments were conducted to ensure that the quantification of adhered Ibuprofen by HPLC was representative of the weight of the material adhered to the punch tip.

The flow properties of the ibuprofen blends were tested by a funnel-flow flowability tester. The powder flow of the tested blends are reported to worsen as the concentration of ibuprofen increases. The authors also report that sticking increases with the concentration of ibuprofen in blend and decreases with increasing compression force. However, the scrape-off forces measured did not increase with increasing ibuprofen content. A schematic representation of the results produced by Saniocki et al is shown in Figure 3. Interestingly, the authors note that results from other studies conducted showed sticking to occur only in center of the punch surfaces for formulation containing less than 50% ibuprofen. In addition they state that blends with 50% ibuprofen or greater showed complete layering of punch surfaces. The results presented by Saniocki et al clearly indicates that scrape-off force measurements are not reliable for the purpose of assessing sticking. A similar outcome regarding the lack of correlation between scrape-off force and sticking is reported by Simmons and Gierer (34). Throughout reported literature, there is much discrepancy in the use of scrape-off force measurements to assess sticking such that this technique is rather best avoided for this purpose.

#### 2.2: Atomic Force Microscopy

The cohesion of particles and their relation to sticking have been studied by many authors using various microscopic force measurement techniques. A popular instrument for this purpose is the Atomic Force Microscope (AFM) (1,23,25,35). In this technique, typically the AFM probe is either coated with a substrate or a particle is directly attached to the tip. The coating of the tip is typically done to mimic the metal on the surface of the punch. Several pharmaceutical materials have been used to functionalize AFM tip. Such materials include various lubricants such as MgSt, binders such as MCC and particles of various pharmaceutical drugs.

Bunker et al (1) investigated the adhesion interaction of lactose particles (mounted on AFM probes) on punch faces exhibiting various surface properties. Their study demonstrates that the increase in punch tip surface roughness correlates with the increase in measured adhesion attributed by secondary bonding forces. The authors measured the relative force of adhesion between a lactose particle and two punch faces differing only on surface roughness; Chromium Nitride (CN) and Chromium Nitride + (CN+). The CN punch face was not polished and exhibited a surface roughness of approximately 45nm (RMS) and the polished CN+ punch face exhibited a surface roughness of approximately 35nm (RMS). Surface roughness was determined using AFM. The same lactose particle attached to the AFM probe was used to measure adhesion on both punch faces in a 10x10µm area consisting of 2500 measurements. The force distribution curves generated during the experiment showed very good agreement with a Gaussian distribution. The mean adhesion forces for the CN and CN+ punch faces were 19.2nN and 14.2nN respectively.

Bunker et al also demonstrates that different punch surface materials (chromium nitride, diamond-like carbon, hard chromium) with varying hydrophobic/hydrophilic character exhibit different adhesion behaviors at varying levels of relative humidity (RH). In this case, the same particle probe was used to test the effect of RH on all punch types. An interesting result from their experiments is that lactose shows sensitivity to humidity which affects its adhesion to metal surfaces, see Figure 4. Adhesion force measurements between lactose and the different punch faces were made by cycling the relative humidity (RH): from 10% to 30% to 60% to 30% to 10%.

With the chromium nitride punch face, a sharp increase in adhesion force is observed between the range of 30% to 60% RH. The authors attribute this phenomenon to the sudden formation of capillary bridges. The effect is reversible as evidenced by the decrease in adhesion when the RH is brought back down to 10%. Both hard chromium and diamond like carbon show higher adhesion forces. The authors suggest that capillary forces may be present even at low RH. The authors also point out that the increase in adhesion with the diamond like carbon punch face appears to be irreversible within the 30 minute equilibration time allowed at each RH step. The results presented by Bunker et al (1) are interesting because the moisture sorption isotherm for lactose shows poor hygroscopicity with only about 0.5% moisture pickup at 60% RH (17). Nevertheless, their data provides evidence that sticking can be affected by the formation of liquid bridges.



Figure 4 – Schematic representation of the results reported by Bunker et al (1). Showing the adhesion force measurements of lactose on various punch faces as a function of relative humidity.

Wang et al (23) also conducted AFM studies on the adhesion forces between the surfaces of iron and 3 profen molecules: ketoprofen, ibuprofen, flurbiprofen. In their work, silicon nitride AFM tips were sputter coated with 20nm thick iron layer. Flat surfaces of the profen compounds were made by melting compound on glass cover slips and recrystallizing by seeding them with crystals. The authors hypothesized that Molecular Modeling would help predict adhesion behavior. Intramolecular interaction energies between profen molecules and metal surfaces were calculated using molecular modeling software, Cerius2. The interaction energies of the profen molecules were calculated at 8 different orientations against a simulated crystal surface of iron. Their results showed that the calculated profen-iron interaction energy ranked highest for Ketoprofen, lower for Ibuprofen, and lowest for Furbiprofen. The adhesion forces between profen molecules and iron as measured by AFM is also reported to follow the same trend. Microscopic force measurement techniques and crystal surface energetics can certainly be useful in studying adhesion forces, however the problem of sticking is a multi-faceted one. For instance, sticking can be influenced by poor powder flow, the interaction between different components in a compression blend, tooling geometry, particle size, moisture and many more.

Lubricants are generally thought to alleviate sticking issues and the most popular lubricant used in tablet formulations is magnesium stearate (MgSt). Therefore it is important to study the mechanism by which this material affects sticking. AFM studies conducted by Weber et al (25) showed that MgSt adheres to steel more strongly than to Microcrystalline Cellulose (MCC) or to itself. The authors suggested that the increased adhesion of MgSt to steel is responsible for its lubrication function and thus the prevention of sticking of other excipients. However, the mechanism by which MgSt affects sticking is not clear. For example, as MgSt concentration increases, lactose formulations show less sticking (20) but Ibuprofen formulations show increased sticking (6,10).

Typically with formulations known to exhibit sticking, the major component that makes up the bulk of the material adhered to the punch tip is the active drug. Neilly et al (8) investigated sticking of a formulation containing MCC, colloidal silicon dioxide, sodium croscarmellose, MgSt and a confidential drug. Both the tablet and punch faces were examined using a Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) and Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy (EDS). Their results showed that the major component adhering to the punch face is the confidential drug. A low level of colloidal silicon dioxide was detected on the punch face while levels of MCC and MgSt were not detected. Their data indicates that MCC and MgSt do not make up any significant fraction of the composition of material adhered to the punch tip.

AFM studies on sticking inherently have its own limitations. For example, in the particle probe technique, the geometry of the particle attached to the probe is not controlled and can affect adhesion force measurements. The electrostatic interactions between the particle and substrate may be difficult to control. The scanning image area with AFM is small and may not provide adhesion force data that is representative of the entire punch face. In addition, AFM techniques do not consider the deformation of particles and the changes in contact area which also affects sticking. Sticking by large is a phenomenon manifested by several variables and AFM techniques can only study a small part of this problem.

#### 2.3: Punch surface

Sticking is often shown to be affected by the surface attributes of punch faces. Factors such as punch surface chemistry and surface roughness are often reported in literature to affect sticking. The punch surface chemistry can exhibit various attributes related to sticking such as hydrophobicity (1) and molecular interactions with formulation components (23). The surface roughness of the punch face has also been shown to affect sticking.

Roberts et al (9) studied the effect of punch surface roughness (SR) and compaction force on the sticking behavior of ibuprofen-lactose formulations. The authors tested with three flat faced punches: a chromium-coated punch (low-SR), a new non-coated punch (medium-SR) and an old non-coated punch (high-SR). Sticking was measured by quantifying the amount of Ibuprofen adhered to the punch tip by liquid chromatography. The results from the study are shown in Figure 5. The authors report that as compression force increases, the new non-coated punch (medium-SR) showed an increase in sticking while the chromium coated punch (low-SR) showed a decrease in sticking. However, the old non-coated punch (high-SR) showed an overall low level of sticking and was not sensitive to compression force. All punches tested are reported to show an increase in sticking as the concentration of ibuprofen in formulation increased. The authors suggest that the enhanced sticking of the chromium coated (low-SR) punch over the new non-coated (medium-SR) punch may be due to the effect of static charging between particles and the difference in punch face material. Although triboelectric charging can contribute to sticking, other factors may also need to be considered. For example, the differences in punch surface chemistry, roughness and hydrophobicity can affect its interaction with particles.





The un-coated punches used in the study are reported to not exhibit electrostatic interaction between powder and punch. The authors suggest that the low level of sticking observed using the old punches maybe due to the surface imperfections that leads to reduced attractive forces between the tablet and the punch. However this explanation is not sufficient for why the old punch exhibited a relatively low level of sticking. Old punches typically exhibit corrosion on the punch surface that can be attributed to various reasons. For example, corrosion of punches have been demonstrated to occur with the use of materials containing hydrochloride salts (85). Currently it is not well understood if corrosion plays a part in sticking. The increase in surface roughness and surface asperities have been suggested to increase the force of adhesion by some authors while others claim the opposite. Bunker et al (1) conducted AFM studies and demonstrated that an increase in punch surface roughness increased adhesion of lactose particles and suggested that this was due to the increase in surface asperities that effectively increases the number of surface contacts and thus contact area.

In contrast, Lam and Newton (51) studied the adhesion of lactose and starch on steel surfaces and reported that the asperities on the surface of large particles due to the presence of fine particles on their surfaces reduces to force of adhesion. The authors suggested that fine particles on the surface of large particles serve as asperities that separate the body of the large particle from the steel surface thus reducing that contribution of van der walls forces. Similar results were presented by Otsuka et al (79) where the addition of sub-micron sized silicic particles on starch significantly reduced its adhesive force onto a glass substrate. A similar train of thought may be applied to the asperities on the punch face which effectively separates the particle from the body of the punch thus reducing van der walls interactions. Definitely, punch surface roughness affects sticking is not well understood. Perhaps one would need to consider both the size and spatial distribution of the punch face asperities and also the size of the particles and their asperities.

Schumann and Searle (62) reports that un-coated and chromium coated punches showed similar and considerable sticking and that the chromium coating of punch tips did not offer any

significant advantage in overcoming sticking. The authors investigated the effect of various punch surfaces and punch surface conditioning on granulated blends of a confidential drug. Tablets were compressed using flat faced punches (with lettering and bisect line) for about 10 minutes on a 16 station rotary tablet press at a rate of 40000 tablets per hour. Sticking was measured qualitatively by using a simple ranking system based on visual observations. In their study, high compression forces were used initially which was gradually reduced to achieve a target tablet hardness. Of the three punch surfaces tested: un-coated, chromium coated and Chromium Nitride Ion Bombarded (CNIB); the CNIB punch showed a significant reduction in sticking. SEM analyses revealed that the chromium coated punch exhibited a smooth surface, the un-coated punch exhibited pitted regions on the order of 1-2µm in diameter and the CNIB punch exhibited several evenly distributed pitted regions on the order of 10-50µm in diameter. The authors suggested that the increase in sticking of the smooth chromium coated punch may be due to suction generated at the tablet-punch interface as the punch is removed away from the tablet and that the pitted regions of the CNIB punch may serve as regions that break the suction causing less sticking.

This explanation is highly questionable because it indirectly suggests that suction is the mechanism by which sticking occurs on the un-coated and chromium coated punches. At a rate of 40000 tablets per hour with 16 stations, the die table will complete one revolution in approximately 1.44 seconds. Assuming that about 35% of this time is spent in just the compression-ejection process, then each tablet is produced in approximately 0.5 sec. Suction may result if the upper punch was retracting so fast that a vacuum is pulled in the die. However, with a compression cycle lasting approximately for 0.5 sec, any type of suction would be improbable. Moreover, air is continually evacuating from the powder bed as the upper punch plunges into the die. At maximum compression, there would exist compressed air in the compact that would

continue to evacuate. Suction at the punch-tablet interface would again be improbable under these conditions.

#### 2.4: Tablet surface

Another popular technique used to assess sticking is by measuring the tablet surface roughness. This is because the area on the tablet face affected by sticking would exhibit higher surface roughness compared to regions that are not affected. Toyoshima et al (20) used tablet surface roughness measurements to study tablet sticking on a set of formulations containing lactose and another set containing a confidential drug. The effect of lubricant content, mixing times and compaction pressure on surface roughness were investigated. Roughness measurements where made with a surface analyzer (Surfcom 700B). Tablets were compacted using a concave punch on a single punch machine at a rate for 15 tablets per minute for up to a maximum of 2000 tablets. The surface roughness of the tablets were measured intermittently throughout the study. The authors plotted the measured surface roughness values against the number of compression cycles as shown in Figure 6 in order to generate a regression line. The authors used the slope of the regression line as a parameter to evaluate sticking tendency. This 'sticking parameter' is considered as a measure of the intensity of sticking for a given formulation. Correlation coefficients of regression lines were either close to or above 0.9 in all experiments.

Their results for the lactose formulations show that the log of the sticking parameter decreases linearly as lubricant content increases as shown in Figure 6. The slope of the linear relationship was comparable for the various lactose formulations except for the manually handblended formulation which showed variable results. Their results also show that the sticking parameter decreases with increasing compression pressure. For formulations mixed using a blender, the change in blending time from 10 to 30 minutes showed little effect on the sticking parameter. The sticking parameter for lactose formulations are also reported to show a deviation from linearity and plateaus beyond a certain concentration of MgSt. The authors state that the deviation of data points from the linear trend indicates a critical concentration of MgSt in the formulation related to sticking.



Figure 6 – Schematic representation of the results reported by Toyoshima et al (20). Left: plot showing the change in tablet surface roughness vs. tablet number. The slope of a regression line of the curve is termed the sticking parameter. Right: plot showing change in sticking parameter vs. lubricant (magnesium stearate) content for lactose formulations at varying blending times and compaction forces.

The formulations containing confidential drug are also reported to show same trends in that the sticking parameter decreases with increasing compression force and lubricant content. The data presented by Toyoshima et al (20) demonstrates that tablet surface roughness can be used to assess the sticking propensity of formulations. However, this method may only work if the sticking process is gradual in which there is a slow formation of a film on the punch face. It is important to point out that tablet surface roughness will not continue to increase infinitely with the progression of sticking. If sticking occurred in a cyclic manner such that large chunks of material are removed from the tablet face or material from the punch face is removed by the tablet then surface roughness measurements may not properly assess sticking propensity. Toyoshima et al (20) states that there is a critical concentration of MgSt related to sticking. It is important to note that increasing the concentration of MgSt may reduce sticking but can also reduce the inter-particle cohesion in the compact.

#### 2.5: Punch force measurements

A popular category of methods cited in literature deals with the measurement of punch forces to understand sticking. This includes the measurement of forces required to pull the top or bottom punch off of the tablet surface, compression or ejection forces and slipping force which is the force required to rotate the punch off the tablet face as the tablet that remains stationary in the die.



Figure 7 – (a) A simplified schematic illustrating the technique of slipping force measurement described by Shunichi and Koichi (18). (b) Schematic representation of the slipping force measurements recorded by an oscilloscope.

Shunichi et al (7,18,19) describes the use of an apparatus and a specialized punch-splitdie assembly capable of measuring the slipping force. In this technique, the force required to rotate the top punch on the tablet surface is termed the 'Slipping Force'. The measurement is conducted at the end of the compaction process while the top punch remains in contact with the tablet in the die. The upper punch is rotated on the tablet surface as the tablet remains fixed in the die, see illustration in Figure 7a. An external normal force is not applied to the top punch during the slipping force measurement. The upper and lower punches were also instrumented with strain gauges to measure vertical forces. Once a tablet is formed, slipping force measurements are conducted in triplicate. The authors proposed that if sticking had not occurred, then there would be no variation in the slipping force between the three measurements. However in the presence of sticking, there would exist a measurable variation in the slipping force as illustrated in Figure 7b.

The authors evaluated several materials and proposed a generalized set of criteria that would indicate a high probability of sticking. The authors concluded that when sticking is evident, the compression force on the upper punch and ejection force of the lower punch are generally high. The authors also conclude that when sticking is evident, the force transmitted to the lower punch during compression would be significantly lower relative to the force applied by the upper punch and that the slipping force measurements would exhibit large variations. Thus, the larger the variation is the larger the magnitude of sticking. The slipping force measurement cannot be a reliable technique to indicate or quantify sticking. For example, it is possible to have a situation where tablets made from two different formulations to exhibit two different magnitudes of adhesive force to the punch face. And it is also possible that when the punches leave contact from the tablet after the compression cycle that sticking never occurs in either formulation. An example of such a material is Sorbitol. Sorbitol formulations can exhibit high adhesion forces at the tabletpunch interface and yet show absolutely no sticking (21). The variation in adhesive forces may be interpreted from the slipping force measurements however this does not necessarily indicate or quantify sticking. A major discrepancy in literature involving the research of sticking is in fact the incorrect use of the term 'Sticking'. The term 'Sticking' in tablet compaction does not mean the adhesion of tablets to the punch face. 'Sticking' is a term used to describe a specific type of tabletting issue in which material from the tablet face is actually removed and remains adhered to the punch faces even after the tablet has terminated any physical contact with the punch faces.



*Figure 8 – Schematic illustration of the instrumented lower pull down cam reported by Goodhart et al (3). An instrumented bolt fastened to the lower cam measures the force required to the pull the lower punch down as it travels the guide track of the cam.* 

Goodhart et al (3) describes the development of a system capable of measuring forces experienced by the lower punch in the die as it is pulled down by the lower cam on the tablet press, see Figure 8. This was achieved by fitting a strain gauge into a bolt that is used to hold the lower punch pull-down cam in place. Granulated formulations containing mannitol with various types of lubricants (magnesium, calcium and zinc stearates) at concentrations of 0.5% and 1.5% were studied. Flat faced bevel edged punches with 5/8<sup>th</sup> in diameter was used produce tablets on a rotary press. In addition, two methods of lubricant mixing was performed: dry mixing of powders with lubricant and spraying of lubricant suspension (in isopropanol) over powder bed.

Their results show that the lower punch pull-down forces were in general lower for formulations dry-mixed with lubricant than for those sprayed with a lubricant suspension. The pull-down forces on average were higher for formulations with 0.5% lubricant than those with 1.5%. With the dry-mixing method of lubrication, stearates of calcium and magnesium showed lower pull-down forces than zinc stearate. The authors also state that punches giving a pull-down force response were visually observed to show material either adhering to the punch, die or both and those that did not give a response showed no adherence of material. The researchers suggest that the sticking of material on to punch faces would results in higher pull-down forces.

The pull-down force of the lower punch interpreted from the strains experienced by a bolt holding the pull-down cam cannot be a reliable method of detecting or measuring sticking. For one, the bottom punch is not in contact with a tablet when it is being pulled down by the lower cam because the tablet is ejected prior to this event. The pull-down force measurement is therefore primarily affected by the friction between the punch - die wall interface. Inferring about sticking from this type of measurement therefore cannot be reliable.



Figure 9 – Schematic illustration of an instrumented upper punch reported by Waimer et al (21). The tip of the punch contains a steel membrane. A steel disk inside the punch body is fixed on to the membrane and is connected to a strain gauge.

Waimer et al (21) discusses the development of a modified upper punch capable of measuring the force of adhesion between the upper punch and the surface of the tablet, see Figure 9. Their unique design made it possible to detect forces in the range of 1 to 250N. The authors studied the adhesion of sorbitol, microencapsulated acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) and starch
1500. The authors chose sorbitol as a model compound due to its known hygroscopic behavior and strong binding to punch faces. Sorbitol containing 1% moisture and varying levels of MgSt was compacted and their results show that the force of adhesion increases with increasing compression forces. The authors attributed this result to the increase in true contact area between the tablet and punch face. Increasing lubricant content in sorbitol from 0.25% to 1% shows a clear reduction in adhesion forces. The authors also state that no sticking was observed on the punch faces despite the high adhesion forces.

Pure ASA was compacted at 10kN force for 200 cycles and the results showed that the adhesion forces gradually increase and plateaus after 150 cycles. The authors state that sticking was visually observed during this process which appeared as a thin incomplete film with islands of aggregated particles. Compaction with both pure ASA and that lubricated with 0.5% MgSt showed that adhesion force decreases with increasing compressive force. With lubricated ASA the increase in compressive force showed a steady decrease in adhesion that reached to undetectably low levels. The measured adhesion forces was higher in non-lubricated ASA than lubricated ASA at all tested compression forces. With non-lubricated ASA, the increase in compressive force showed a decline in adhesion force but reached a steady state plateau of measurable adhesion. The authors state that sticking was visually observed to reduce as the measured force of adhesion diminished. The authors also state that sticking with lubricated ASA became visually undetectable with increasing compression force and only became visible at lower compression forces.

Starch 1500 showed very small adhesion forces initially but increased as compression force increased to 30kN. However the measured adhesion force rapidly decreased to undetectable levels when compression force increased to 40kN. The authors state that this effect is caused by the increase in cohesive force in the compact that overcomes the force of adhesion to the punch face as compression force increases. The authors also state that moistening the punch face caused an excessive increase in sticking with starch 1500.

The results presented by Waimer et al (21) highlight a number of important observations. 1: Higher adhesion forces at the tablet-punch interface does not necessarily indicate or quantify sticking. 2: There is a pressure dependence of sticking and increasing compression force may reduce sticking like in the case of ASA as discussed above. Sticking with increasing compression force on Ibuprofen formulations have been previously reported to increase with an uncoated punch but decrease with a chrome coated punch (9). 3: Moisture can definitely influence sticking and may even affect powders that exhibit poor hygroscopicity. Starch is a hygroscopic material and the formation of capillary bridges between particles and tooling surface can influence sticking. Similar results on the adhesion of potato starch as a function of relative humidity was reported by Shimada et al (17). Lactose on the other hand exhibits poor hygroscopicity yet Bunker et al (1) demonstrated that capillary bridges between lactose and punch face can form between 30% & 60% RH. Moreover, tooling surfaces are often wiped clean using various solvents. It is possible for residual solvent or moisture remaining on the punch tip to initiate sticking.

#### 2.6: Moisture and Triboelectric Charging

It is well known that moisture can affect sticking during tablet compaction. Moisture related sticking is attributed by factors such as relative humidity of the operating environment and hygroscopicity or compaction powders. Several pharmaceutical excipients and active ingredients are known to exhibit hygroscopic behavior. Therefore, formulations that contain hygroscopic components or high moisture content can cause sticking mediated by the capillary formation between particles and tooling surfaces. The effect of triboelectric charging of pharmaceutical powders specifically on sticking is not well understood. However the impact of triboelectric charging of particles on adhesion and powder processing is studied by several researchers and well documented in literature.

Fine powders are known to exhibit an increased sensitivity to charging and can cause them to become cohesive due to inter-particle interactions mediated primarily by Van der Waals and electrostatic forces (73). Thus triboelectric charging can negatively impact powder flow which is a crucial property in several pharmaceutical applications. An extensive review on the topic of triboelectric charging of pharmaceutical materials is provided by Karner and Urbanetz (73). It is widely known that the magnitude of triboelectric charging can be significantly affected by the presence of adsorbed water on particle surfaces and by the relative humidity. The adsorbed water on the surface of powders acts to improve the electrical conductivity of the surface which allows for faster charge neutralization during the separation of contacts. Humidity can affect the electrical conductivity of air which allows for the transfer of charge between surfaces and air.

Shimada et al (17) describes the measurement of inter-particle adhesion forces using a novel device capable of directly separating adhering surfaces. In their technique, particles resting on a substrate are pulled off by a contacting needle to measure the force of adhesion. Their device is capable of measuring forces as low at 2nN. The authors studied the effect of triboelectric charging and moisture on glass beads and particles of various pharmaceutical materials. Their results show that the inter-particle adhesion force of hygroscopic materials such as corn starch and potato starch increase rapidly at high relative humidity due to the formation of capillary bridges. Shimada et al also demonstrated that the specific charge of corn starch, potato starch and lactose particles decrease with increasing relative humidity indicating that triboelectric charging can be affected by humidity especially with moisture sensitive materials.

Their experiments also demonstrate that triboelectric charging and particle shape can have significant effect on adhesion. The authors used glass beads having an average size of ~50µm and The adhesion force measured between a particle of irregular shaped glass and a spherical glass bead (~50µm diameter) was 5 times higher (~162nN) than that between smooth spherical glass beads (~33nN). The authors explain that this effect is due to the accumulation of triboelectric charge on the surface with sharp asperities while the smooth surface allows for the charge to distribute more uniformly. The charging of irregular glass resulted in a force of inter-particle adhesion that was comparable to that of corn starch measured at 50-55% RH (145nN). According to data presented by Shimada et al, the grade of corn starch evaluated in their experiments can absorb approximately 11.2% moisture (w/w) at 50% RH. The data presented by Shimada et al (17) illustrates that powder moisture, humidity, morphology and surface charging can profoundly affect the force of adhesion. Thus adhesion, mediated by capillary and electrostatic forces can certainly affect the behavior of sticking in pharmaceutical powders.

# 2.7: Centrifugal methods

Several authors report the use of centrifugal techniques to measure the adhesion force of particles onto substrates. An early use of such a technique is reported by Krupp (28) where a centrifugal method is devised to measure adhesion of iron particles. In this method iron particles are gently dusted onto an iron substrate that is fixed onto a centrifuge which is spun at increasing speeds. The number of particles remaining on the substrate and their sizes are recorded periodically and compared to the initial time point. The data is used to plot the percent residual remaining vs. the adhesive force derived from the centrifugal velocity. A similar technique was used by Mizes et al (11) to measure the adhesion of toner particles on a flat surface. In this technique, toner particles are adhered to a flat surface which is mounted onto a centrifuge. The centrifuge it spun at successively increasing speeds and the detachment of particles is monitored using a CCD camera. Similar centrifugal techniques have been adopted to study sticking of pharmaceutical materials onto various substrates and are reported by several authors (11,12,15,28,29,50,51,52,53,67).

Booth and Newton (29) describes the use of a nylon centrifuge tube devised to hold a substrate onto which particles can be deposited. Various substrates including mild steel, stainless steel, brass and PTFE were used to study the adhesion of polyethylene glycol (PEG 4000) and starch 1500. Sieve fractions in the range of 45 to 53µm were deposited onto the various substrates such that particles were separated at least one diameter apart. In one set of experiments, particles were loosely deposited on the substrate without applying force and in another particles were forced onto the substrates by centrifugation. The particles were detached off the substrates by centrifugation at increasing speeds while intermittently monitoring the number of particles remaining adhered. The effect of lubrication and surface roughness of substrates were also investigated. Substrates exhibiting smooth and rough surface profiles were fabricated for each substrate material tested. The effect of lubricant was tested on steel substrates by pre-treating the surfaces with a 5% (w/v) solution of stearic acid.

Their results showed that lubrication significantly reduced adhesion forces for starch 1500 on steel surfaces. Particles that were forced onto the substrates showed significant increases in adhesion forces over those that were loosely deposited. PEG 4000 showed significantly higher adhesion forces over starch 1500 on all substrates after being initially forced on by centrifugation. For particles forced onto steel substrates, starch 1500 showed increased adhesion onto mild steel compared to stainless steel. Starch 1500 also showed increased adhesion to a smooth surface of mild steel compared to a rough surface. The results presented by Booth and Newton demonstrates that lubrication, surface roughness and compressive force affects sticking. Shimada et al (15) studied the adhesion of fine particles on the surfaces of tablets made of MicroceLac. MicroceLac is a spray dried fused mixture of microcrystalline cellulose and crystalline lactose. The mean particle size [d50] of this powder (MicroceLac<sup>®</sup> 100) reported on the manufacturer's catalog is 132 $\mu$ m (70). The authors used impact separation and centrifugal force methods to measure the force required to dislodge particles adhering to the surfaces of compacted tablets. In the impact separation method, typically particles adhered to a substrate is dislodged by simply striking the opposite side of the substrate at a given velocity. In their experiment, the particles on the surface of the tablets were dislodged on to a clear container which can be analyzed under a microscope. The size distribution of the dislodged particles ranged from approximately 1 to 50 $\mu$ m and was measured using a microscope with an attached image analyzer. The force, f\_50 at which 50% of the particles have been dislodged was calculated to be approximately 107nN. The mean particle size of the dislodged particles at f\_50 was 15.8 $\mu$ m.



Figure 10 – Schematic representation of the data reported by Shimada et al (15). Fine particles adhered to the surfaces of tablets are removed by centrifugal and impact separation method. The particles are removed off the tablet surface given sufficient force either by increasing centrifugal or impact velocity. The 'Residual Percent' represents the % number of particles remaining adhered to the tablet surface. The mean particle sizes are observed to be between 5-20 $\mu$ m even when the residual fractions are reduced to ~40%.

An illustration showing the mean particle sizes of various residual fractions of particles remaining adhered to the tablet is shown in Figure 10. The authors also note that the residual percent of particles decreased rapidly in the size range of 10-20µm indicating the existence of a critical size range with respect to adhesion. Data collected from approximately 3000 tablets show that the mean size of particles adhered to tablet surfaces ranged from 10 to  $20\mu m$  in diameter. Lactose is an agent known to intensify sticking and was observed by Abdel-Hamid and Betz (54). Fragmentation of particles during powder compaction can result in the generation of fines. The work conducted by Shimada et al (15) demonstrates that there exists a size dependence of particles with respect to adhesion especially in the 5-20µm range. Particle size may become an important parameter to consider especially since many materials that exhibit sticking such as ibuprofen and ASA are also reported to undergo fragmentation under compaction. However it is not clearly understood if and how particle size affects sticking. Centrifugal methods allows for the determination of the statistical distribution of adhesion forces. However, this method does not necessarily quantify sticking due to several reasons. For one, particles undergo significant deformation during compression which is also experienced by the particles sticking to the punch tip. The centrifugal method does not consider several depending factors in sticking including particle deformation, effect of excipients and lubricants, compression force and speed, evolution of tablet microstructure during compaction etc.

# 2.8: Molecular interaction

The surface chemistry of interacting surfaces and their effect on adhesion is purported to be an important factor that contributes to sticking by many authors. Studies that substantiate this claim include AFM force measurements between various metal surfaces and particles, molecular simulations between metal and particle surface and observations of the intensity of sticking on various types of punch faces. Wakins et al (61) investigated the effect of particle morphology on sticking. In their study, the morphology of Mefenamic acid crystals were modified by solution crystallization in order to produce needle and plate shaped particles. AFM tips coated with oxidized iron was used to measure the relative adhesion forces of the two morphologies. AFM measurements were conducted at 25C and at 35-40% relative humidity. The researchers also used modeling software to predict the composition of exposed surface groups on the various facets of the crystal.

Their results show that the various crystal facets exhibit a different makeup of exposed surface groups such as non-polar hydrocarbon, hydrophilic amine and carbonyl groups. The (100) face of the crystal is relatively hydrophobic and exhibits the largest surface area on the plate morphology. In contrast, the (010) face exhibits the dominant surface area on needles and the (100) face area is relatively small. Powders of Mefenamic acid of both plate and needle morphologies were compacted on a Carver press at 1 ton pressure with a 10 minute dwell time. Needles were visually observed to exhibit higher sticking than plates. Molecular modeling showed that the (100) face is relatively non-polar/hydrophobic consisting of exposed methyl groups attached to internal benzene rings while the (010) face is relatively polar consisting primarily of nitrogen and oxygen atoms. The calculated surface energy of the (100) face (0.045 kcal·mol<sup>-1</sup>.Å<sup>2</sup>) is lower than that of the (010) face (0.083 kcal·mol<sup>-1</sup>.Å<sup>2</sup>). The pull off force measurements obtained by AFM showed statistically lower adhesion of plates than needles. The authors state that the difference in surface energetics between needles and plates show good correlation with observed sticking.

Although Wakins et al (61) suggests that the surface energetics of the crystal plays an important role in sticking, they did not discuss about the effect of morphology on powder flow, deformation or preferred orientation. Needle morphology is well known to cause poor powder

flow and can result in high friction and variations in the density distribution of the tablets. A particle with needle morphology can fragment into smaller particles with lower aspect ratio. Fragmentation of needles can occur more readily than with plates under a given load and can result in the generation of fine fragmented particles. Fine particles can enter the tolerance space between the wall of the die and the punch tip and can result in an increase in tooling friction. The presence of fine particles in a compression blend can also affect sticking. Both needle and plate morphologies can exhibit preferred orientation when forced against a surface. Although surface energetics of the crystal may contribute to its adhesion onto surfaces, it is important to consider other parameters in order to evaluate their effect on sticking. Sticking is often a multivariate phenomenon and literature cites several factors that contribute to sticking. It is possible that the difference in sticking observed between needles and plates of Mefenamic acid are contributed by other factors in addition to surface energetics.

# 2.9: Weighing methods

A direct way of measuring sticking is by determining the weight of the material adhered to the punch tip. In this technique, typically the tare weight of the clean punch is first recorded. The punch is then weighed intermittently during tablet production after successive compression cycles in order to generate a sticking profile of the formulation. The rate at which the weight of adhered material accumulates can be compared with different formulations in order to assess the propensity of sticking. Many researchers have employed this method to assess the propensity of sticking in various tablet formulations. Sendall and Staniforth (64) studied the sticking propensity of effervescent tablet formulations containing citric acid, tartaric acid, sodium bicarbonate, povidone and marcogol 6000. Formulations were prepared with and without the lubricant, sucrose ester. Tablets were made using 25mm and 12.5mm flat faced punches. The amount of material adhered to the upper punch face was quantified by weighing the punch before and after compaction cycles. The surface roughness of tablets were measured using an instrument that uses a stylus in contact mode to scan surface contour. Their results show that both the adhered weight on the punch tip and the surface roughness of tablets are high for formulations without lubricant and low for formulations with lubricant. Formulations containing citric acid are reported to exhibits increased sticking over formulations with tartaric acid. The authors also report that the punch weight was observed to fluctuate in a cyclic manner with successive compression cycles. This effect is due to the accumulation of adhered material on the punch tip followed by an abrupt loss of material. Material will again continue to re-accumulate on the punch tip with successive compression cycles. The accumulation and loss of material on the punch tip occurs in a quasiperiodic manner.

Lubricants are often thought to reduce sticking and have been used in formulations successfully. However, not all materials show the same effect. For example, with increasing concentrations of magnesium stearate (MgSt), formulations of tartaric and malic acids are reported to show reduced sticking (5) while formulations of Ibuprofen and Acetyl Salicylic Acid (ASA) are reported to show increased sticking (10,21). Mullarney et al (6) investigated the effect of lubricant and drug content on the sticking propensity of Ibuprofen and mannitol formulations. In their work, a custom punch with a removable punch tip was designed so that the tip alone can be weighed in order to measure the quantity of adhered material. The punch tip used in their study were flat faced and 0.5in in diameter. Tablets were made on a single station automatic press with a shoe feed system and compressed to a target relative density of 0.85. Their results showed that sticking increases with increasing ibuprofen content in blends consisting of MCC and 0.25% MgSt. As the concentration of ibuprofen increased, fluctuations in adhered weight with successive compression cycles increased in magnitude. Interestingly, the photograph included in their paper

of the appearance of the punch tip at the 100<sup>th</sup> cycle for the 20% ibuprofen blend shows sticking to be pronounced towards the center of the punch tip and for the 40% ibuprofen blend shows sticking to be present on the entire surface of the punch tip. Similar observations of sticking in ibuprofen formulations were reported by Saniocki et al (56).



*Figure 11 – Schematic representation of the data reported by Mullarney et al (30). Showing the sticking profile of 20% ibuprofen blends containing MCC and varying levels of MgSt.* 

The effect of lubricant concentration in 20% ibuprofen blends was also evaluated. The results show another interesting effect that is the sticking increases with lubricant content, see Figure 11. With 0.25% MgSt, sticking is initially observed to rapidly increase and then gradually decrease with successive compression cycles. However with 0.75% and 1.5% MgSt, sticking is initially observed to rapidly increase and then gradually increase at a slower rate with successive compression cycles. However it does indicate that the role of MgSt in sticking of ibuprofen is not clearly understood. The effect of lubricant on sticking may also vary depending on the blending conditions of the formulation. In contrast, Mullarney et al also demonstrates that compaction with 50% mannitol blends showed that sticking decreases as the concentration of MgSt increased from 0.25% to 0.75% to 1.5%. The mannitol grade used was spray dried granular powder. The authors also evaluated the sticking propensity of various

grades of mannitol. Their results show that 100% mannitol powder exhibits significantly increased sticking over 100% spray dried granular mannitol.

The results presented by Mullarney et al highlight a number of important observations. Those of particular importance are that regarding the effect of MgSt on sticking in ibuprofen formulations and the effect of powder processing on sticking with mannitol. The powder processing of mannitol by spray drying produces granules that exhibit a reduction in the fraction of fine particles and improves powder flow (75). Mannitol powder is also reported to undergo fragmentation under compaction and the various polymorphs of mannitol exhibit different compression behaviors (71). Is it not clear exactly why spray dried granular mannitol exhibits less sticking than powder mannitol but clues as to why may come from the differences in powder properties.

The removable punch tip method is a fairly quick and easy way to directly quantify sticking. However, it is not clear how reproducible the results are. If sticking in a formulation occurs as a gradual filming-layering process, then the adhered weight on the punch tip may also gradually increase. It is not clear whether repeating the experiment would produce the same result and to what degree of accuracy. If sticking occurs in some cyclic fashion resulting in the accumulation and abrupt loss of adhered material, then this would result in significant variability in data for adhered weight. In such a situation, comparing the propensity of sticking in similar formulations may be difficult unless there are gross differences in adhered weights. Furthermore, if sticking is a slow gradual process, an assessment of sticking propensity may require a substantial quantity of material. For example, approximately 350 grams of material may be required to produce a 1000 tablets weighing 250mg each on a rotary press, assuming that about 100g of material is wasted in various ways such as loose powder on the die tablet and material in the force feeder.

### 2.10: Magnesium Stearate

Magnesium Stearate (MgSt) is a common lubricant added to formulations primarily to improve powder flow during compaction. Typically, tablet formulations are only blended with MgSt for a few minutes. Over blending a formulation with MgSt can effectively reduce the cohesive strength of the tablet compact. Under blending can result in poor distribution uniformity of MgSt throughout the powder bed. An example of this can be found in data reported by Neilly et al (8). The authors conducted elemental analysis on tablet surfaces by Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy (EDS). The pictures presented in their paper show a very fine distribution of MgSt along with the presence of several large chunks on the order of about 20µm. This can typically result from under blending of the formulation. MgSt has been reported to both increase sticking in some formulations while decrease sticking in others.

Roberts et al (10) reported that sticking increases in ibuprofen blends with increasing MgSt content. Here, the researchers evaluated the sticking behavior of ibuprofen formulations consisting of Lactose and varying concentrations of MgSt. The grade of lactose used in their study was Tablettose 80, which consists of agglomerated particles of  $\alpha$ -lactose monohydrate. Tablets were compacted using chrome coated and uncoated flat faced punches with a diameter of 12.5mm. Compactions were conducted on single station automated press with a shoe fill system for up to 1 minute at a production rate of 19 tablets per minute. Sticking on the upper punch was characterized by HPLC in which the amount of ibuprofen adhered to the punch face is quantified. Their results show that increasing MgSt content from 0.25% to 2% in ibuprofen formulations causes significantly increased sticking. In contrast, ibuprofen formulations containing 0.5% Aerosil 200 (Colloidal Silica – ~10µm sized particles as reported in manufacture's brochure) showed that sticking was independent of MgSt content (0.25% to 2%) and remained steady at a constant level. Interestingly, the authors report that triboelectric charging of particles were observed on chrome

coated punches and not on the uncoated punches. However sticking with ibuprofen blends occurs for both types of punches. The results presented by Roberts et al (10) clearly demonstrates that increasing MgSt only intensifies sticking in ibuprofen formulations. It is quite evident that the mechanism is by which MgSt affects sticking is not well understood. It is also not clear exactly what role triboelectric charging plays in sticking.

# 2.11: Techniques used to measure sticking

The following contains a tabulated list of various techniques reported in literature that are used to measure sticking. Each technique is categorized by the type of information obtained from the measurement. The four categories assigned are: Quantification (Q), Correlation (C), Detection (D), and Prediction (P). Quantitation refers to the direct measurement of the magnitude of sticking of a powder with successive compression cycles. This type of technique would involve some form of numerical gauging of the quantity of material adhered to the punch tip. Correlation refers to the measurement of parameters that has been shown to correlate with the phenomenon of sticking. This type of measurement is also used to gauge the magnitude of sticking. Detection refers to the qualitative measurement of sticking. This type of technique can be used to detect the occurrence or qualitatively assess sticking. Prediction refers to the indirect assessment of sticking propensity that does not involve any tablet compaction operation.

Technique	Туре	Reference
AFM	Р	1,23,25,35,72
Air Blasting	Р	30
Centrifugal Method (CFG)	Р	11,12,15,28,29,50,51,52,53,67
Die Wall Pressure	С	54
Direct Separation	Р	16,17
Ejection Force	С	24,44
HPLC	Q	5,9,10,36,39,43,45,47,49,78
Image Analysis	D	40,44,45,87

Technique	Туре	Reference
Impact Separation (IMP)	Р	12,13,15
Infrared Spectroscopy (IR)	D	8,32,38,47
Lower punch pressure	С	7,18,19
Molecular Modeling (MOD)	Р	23,24,41,61,68
Pull-down Force	С	3
Pull-up Force	С	4,21,31
Punch Surface Roughness	С	1,60
Punch Weight	Q	6,46,64
SEM/EDS	D	5,8,76
Shear Cone Pull-up	С	22
Slipping Force	С	7,18,19
Spring Balance	Р	14
Sweep-off/Scraper/Take-off Force	С	2,4,24,26,27,39,59,55
(SCR)		
Tablet Surface Roughness (TSR)	Q,C,D	4,20,64
Powder Rheometry	С	37
Thermal Analysis	С	41
Visual inspection	D	33,34,42,48,62

# 2.12: Parameters reported to affect sticking

The following contains a tabulated list of various parameters reported in literature that

are reported to affect sticking.

Parameter	Material	Reported Result	Technique	Reference
Blending time	Lactose	Increasing blending time	TSR	20
		with lactose formulations		
		did not increase sticking.		
Compression	Ibuprofen	Sticking increases with	SCR	59
speed		increasing compression		
		speed.		
Compression	n-Butyl p-	Sticking increases with	SCR, TSR	4
speed	hydroxybenzoate	increasing compression		
		speed.		
Compression	Ibuprofen	Sticking decreases with	SCR	59
force		increasing compression		
		force.		
Compression	Ibuprofen	Sticking decreases with	HPLC	39,56
force		increasing compression		
		force.		
Compression	Ibuprofen	As compression force	HPLC	9
force		increases, sticking		
		decreases on a Cr-coated		
		punch but increases for		
		an uncoated punch.		
Compression	ASA	Sticking observable at	Pull-up	21
force		low compression force		
		but decreases with		
		increasing compression		
		force. Adhesion force at		
		tablet punch interface		
		decreases with increasing		
		compression force.		
Compression	Sorbitol	Adhesion force at tablet	Pull-up	21
force		punch interface increases		
		with increasing		
		compression force with		
		no sticking.		
Compression	Lactose	Sticking increases with	SCR	2
force		increasing compression		
		pressure in wet		
		granulated lactose-PVP		
		formulations.		
Compression	Confidential	Sticking not observed at	Pull-up	21
force	formulation	higher compression force		

Parameter	Material	Reported Result	Technique	Reference
		but only evident at lower		
		compression force.		
Concentration of	Ibuprofen	Sticking increases with	HPLC	39,56
active ingredient		increasing levels of		
		ibuprofen.		
Concentration of	Ibuprofen	Sticking increases with	HPLC	9
active ingredient		increasing levels of		
		ibuprofen.		
Water content	Lactose	Sticking increases as	SCR	2
		water content increases		
		up to 3%. Beyond 3%,		
		sticking reduces.		
Punch	Lactose	CN+ is hydrophobic	AFM	1
hydrophobicity		compared to HC punch.		
		Capillary bridges form		
		easily with HC than CN+		
		at low RH.		
Punch coating	Lactose, starch,	CN coating reduced	CFG	69
	calcium carbonate	powder adhesion more		
		than steel and chromium		
		carbide.		
Humidity	Lactose	Capillary formation on HC	AFM	1
		& DLC punch surfaces		
		occurs at low RH.		
Solid fraction	Tartaric acid and	Sticking decreases with	HPLC,	5
	Malic acid	increase in solid fraction.	SEM/EDS	
Lubricant	Tartaric acid and	Sticking decreases with	HPLC,	5
	Malic acid	increase in MgSt content.	SEM/EDS	
Lubricant	Ibuprofen	Sticking increases with	HPLC	10
		high MgSt content (1-		
		2%).		
Lubricant	ASA	Sticking increases with	Pull-up	21
		high MgSt content.	-	
Lubricant	Ibuprofen	Sticking increases with	Punch Wt.	6
		increasing MgSt.		
Lubricant	Mannitol	Sticking decreases with	Punch Wt.	6
		increasing MgSt content.		
Lubricant	Lactose	Sticking decreases with	TSR	20
		increasing MgSt content.	-	
Anti-adherent	Citric acid, tartaric	Addition of 1% sucrose	Punch	64
	acid, sodium	ester powder in	Wt., TSR	
	bicarbonate	formulation significant		
		reduced sticking.		
Powder	Mannitol	Mannitol powder shows	Punch Wt.	6
processing		higher sticking that spray		

Parameter	Material	Reported Result	Technique	Reference
		dried granulated grade of		
		mannitol.		
Powder	Confidential drug	Dry granulation of	Visual	80
processing		formulation by roller		
		compaction eliminated		
		sticking.		
Punch Surface	Ibuprofen	Increased surface	HPLC	9
Roughness		roughness did not		
		increase sticking.		
Punch Surface	Ibuprofen	Increased surface	HPLC, SCR	60
Roughness		roughness of EIP and MH		
		punches showed		
		significant reduction in		
		sticking compared to		
		HCr-coated punch.		
Punch Surface	Confidential drug	The pitted surface in a	Visual	62
Roughness		punch face increased		
		surface roughness and		
		reduced sticking		
Punch geometry	Ibuprofen	Decrease sticking	HPLC	63
		observed with concave		
		punches compared to		
		flat-faced punches.		
Punch geometry	Ibuprofen	Decrease sticking	SCR	59
		observed with concave		
		punches compared to		
		flat-faced punches.		
Temperature	butyl p-	Increasing the heat	IMP	12
	hydroxybenzoate,	treatment temperature		
	sulfadimethoxine	from 0.90 to 0.95 (T/Tm)		
		results in significant		
		increase in adhesion to		
		glass substrate.		
Static charge	Toner particles	Triboelectric charging can	CFG	11
		be the dominating		
		mechanism of adhesion		
		of toner particles.		
Surface chemistry	ibuproten,	Increased surface	AFM,	23
of crystal faces	ketoproten,	energetics correlates	MOD	
	Tiurbiproten	with increased sticking.		64.66
Surface chemistry	Metenamic acid	Needles adhere stronger	AFM,	61,68
of crystal faces		than plates due to	MOD	
		surface energy and polar		
	<b>.</b>	groups.		
Cleaning of punch	TICKOPUR R33	Treating punch faces with	Contact	1
1	1	I LICKOPUL K33 Cleaning	angle.	1

Parameter	Material	Reported Result	Technique	Reference
		solution improves punch hydrophilicity.		
Conditioning of punch	Confidential drug	Elimination of sticking observed by pre- compressing with placebo blend of MCC PH102 & MgSt prior to manufacture with active blend.	Visual	62
Conditioning of punch	Confidential drug	No sticking with punches treated using chromium nitride Ion bombardment and increased sticking with chromium plated punch.	Visual	62
Conditioning of punch	Confidential drug	Dusting punch faces with MgSt prior to compaction start did not reduce sticking.	Visual	62

# **CHAPTER 3: METHODS & MATERIALS**

# 3.1: Punch tip specifications and characterization

In this work, modified upper punches with removable tips were used to study sticking in ibuprofen and Acetylsalicylic Acid (ASA) blends. The modified punches were also used to evaluate the sticking propensity of three formulations of a confidential drug. Modified B-type upper punches with removable tips were manufactured at Natoli Engineering (Saint Charles, MO, USA). Photographs of the punch with a removable tip is shown in Figure 12. The punch tips were made of S7 steel (approximate composition as per manufacturer specifications: 0.45-0.55% carbon, 0.20-0.80% manganese, 0.20-1.00% silicon, 3.00-3.50% chromium, 0.00-0.35% vanadium, 1.30-1.80% molybdenum) with standard polishing. Three tip geometries (two of each) were manufactured: standard cup (SC), deep cup (DC), flat faced radius edge (FFRE) each weighing under 2 grams. The tip geometries and specifications are shown in Figure 13. Only the SC and FFRE tip geometries were used this work.



Figure 12 – Photographs of the punch with removable punch tip. Left: disassembled view. Right: the punch tip is fastened to the punch body using a set screw.



# Figure 13 – Schematic drawings of punch tips and their properties.

The surface profile of the punch tips were examined using a Zigo optical profilometer. The surface profile data is shown in Figure 14 and optical photomicrographs of the scanned areas are shown in Figure 15. A scan area of 0.70mm x 0.53mm was examined for each punch tip. The root mean square (RMS) roughness values typically varied between 50nm and 200nm for all tips. A sphere baseline subtraction was applied to the standard and deep cup tips in order to compensate for the tip geometry. A tabulated list of surface roughness measurements are presented in Table 1.

	PV (μm)	RMS (µm)	Ra (µm)
Standard Cup A	1.191	0.179	0.139
Standard Cup B	2.967	0.064	0.050
Deep Cup A	1.961	0.111	0.080
Deep Cup B	0.989	0.120	0.084
Flat Face Radius Edge A	1.586	0.099	0.075
Flat Face Radius Edge B	1.126	0.180	0.144

Table 1 – Surface roughness measurements of removable punch tips. PV (minimum peak minus maximum valley), RMS (Root Mean Square roughness), RA (Average roughness).

Pesk PV 1.191 μm   valley <t< th=""><th>For all of the second corp B   Post provided for the second corp b   Post post p   Post p</th></t<>	For all of the second corp B   Post provided for the second corp b   Post post p   Post p				
Deep Cup A	Deep Cup B				
Post PV 1.961 μm   μm rms 0.111 μm   valley Size X 0.70 mm   Size Y 0.53 mm	Perk Perk Valey 0.54399 0.54399 Pototopotopotopotopotopotopotopotopotopo				
Flat Face Radius Edge A	Flat Face Radius Edge B				
Po 33766 PV 1.586 μm   μm rms 0.099 μm   Valley Size X 0.70 mm   Size Y 0.53 mm	+0.45123 PV 1.126 μm   Peak μm rms 0.180 μm   Valley Size X 0.70 mm   Size Y 0.53 mm				
Figure 14 – Surface profile of punch tips using an optical profilometer. PV (minimum peak minus maximum valley), RMS (Root Mean Square roughness), RA (Average roughness), Size X (scan length in x-direction), Size Y (scan length in y-direction).					
Standard Cup A Deep Cup A	Flat Face Radius Edge A				



*Figure 15 – Photomicrographs of the punch tips. Showing the area scanned by the optical profilometer.* 

### 3.2: Equipment and materials

The Ibuprofen used in this work was obtained from Spectrum Chemicals. Acetylsalicylic Acid was obtained from MP Biomedicals. True density measurements of all tested formulation were obtained using an AccuPyc II 1340 pycnometer (Micromeritics Instrument Corporation, Norcross, USA). Particle size measurements were conducted by laser light scattering using Malvern Instruments Mastersizer 2000 (using µP and Scirocco modules). All formulations tested were blended using a Turbula blender (Willy A. Bachofen, Muttenz, Switzerland). The various formulation blends prepared and evaluated in this work are summarized in Table 2.

Formulation Name	True Density (g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	Тір	Formulation
100% IBU	1.1163	FFRE	100% IBU
30% IBU	1.4072	FFRE	30.0% IBU, 0.5% MgSt, 69.5% MCC PH102
30% IBU-MIC	1.4538	FFRE	30.0% IBU, 0.5% MgSt, 69.5% MCC PH102
30% ASA	1.5152	FFRE	30.0% ASA, 0.5% MgSt, 69.5% MCC PH102
21% X-B1	1.4957	SC	20.9% X, 1.5% MgSt, 59.5% MCC PH102, 18.1% Mannitol
21% X-B2	1.4980	SC	20.9% X, 1.5% MgSt, 62.6% MCC PH102, 15.0% Mannitol
21% X-B3	1.4902	SC	20.8% X, 2.0% Compritol, 62.3% MCC PH102, 14.9% Mannitol

Table 2 – List of formulations evaluated using removable punch tip. FFRE – Flat Face Radius Edge, SC – Standard Cup, IBU – Ibuprofen, MgSt – Magnesium Stearate, MCC – Microcrystalline Cellulose, ASA – Acetylsalicylic Acid.

Micronization of Ibuprofen was achieved by air jet milling on a Jet-O-Mizer. The grinding nozzle pressure was set to 80 Psi and the pusher nozzle to 90 Psi. A yield of 86% was achieved. Micronized Ibuprofen was observed to be highly static charged and difficult to handle. The particle size of the starting Ibuprofen material (as received from supplier) is  $35.6\mu m$  (x50 percentile) and that of the micronized material is  $4.4\mu m$  (x50 percentile) which corresponds to an approximate 90% size reduction. The particle size distribution curve is shown in Figure 16.



*Figure 16 – Particle size distribution of micronized and non-micronized Ibuprofen.* 

# 3.3: Blending procedures

# Blending procedure - 30% Ibuprofen

Ibuprofen (as received from supplier) and MCC PH102 was first screened separately through a 710µm sieve for delumping. The materials were mixed in the Turbula blender for 5 mins at 35 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 425µm sieve and mixed again for 5 mins at 35 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 425µm sieve again into a collection pan. Magnesium stearate was also passed through the 425µm sieve into the collection pan. The screened materials were mixed in the Turbula blender for 3 minutes at 35 rpm. This formulation will be referred to as 30% IBU in this text.

# Blending procedure - 30% Ibuprofen Micronized

Micronized Ibuprofen was highly static charged and very difficult to sieve. For this reason, micronized Ibuprofen and MCC PH102 was first hand mixed by spatula in a collection pan for 3 minutes. The mixture was then mixed in the Turbula blender for 10 mins at 35 rpm. The mixture

revealed large lumps of Ibuprofen and therefore a more vigorous mixing was conducted at 51 rpm for 10 mins. The mixture was screened through a 600µm sieve and mixed for 10 mins at 105 rpm. The mixture was then screened through a 425µm sieve into a collection pan. Magnesium stearate was also passed through the 425µm sieve into the collection pan. The screened materials were mixed in the Turbula blender for 3 mins at 35 rpm. This formulation will be referred to as 30% IBU-MIC in this text.

### <u>Blending procedure - 30% Acetylsalicylic Acid</u>

Acetylsalicylic Acid (as received from supplier) and MCC PH102 was first screened separately through a 710µm sieve for delumping. The materials were mixed in the Turbula blender for 5 mins at 35 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 425µm sieve and mixed again for 5 mins at 35 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 425µm sieve again into a collection pan. Magnesium stearate was also passed through the 425µm sieve into the collection pan. The screened materials were mixed in the Turbula blender for 3 mins at 35 rpm. This formulation will be referred to as 30% ASA in this text.

### Blending procedure - 21% Compound X, Blend 1

Compound X, Mannitol and MCC PH102 was first screened separately through a 800µm sieve for delumping. The materials were mixed in a Pharmatech 2 Liter capacity bin blender for 20 mins at 17 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 250µm sieve again into a collection pan. Magnesium stearate was also passed through the 250µm sieve into the collection pan. The screened materials were mixed in a Turbula blender for 3 mins at 24 rpm. This formulation will be referred to as 21% X-B1 in this text.

# Blending procedure - 21% Compound X, Blend 2

Compound X, Mannitol and MCC PH102 was first screened separately through a 800µm sieve for delumping. The materials were mixed in a Pharmatech 2 Liter capacity bin blender for

20 mins at 17 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 250µm sieve again into a collection pan. Magnesium stearate was also passed through the 250µm sieve into the collection pan. The screened materials were mixed in a Turbula blender for 3 mins at 24 rpm. This formulation will be referred to as 21% X-B2 in this text.

# Blending procedure - 21% Compound X, Blend 3

Compound X, Mannitol and MCC PH102 was first screened separately through a 800µm sieve for delumping. The materials were mixed in a Pharmatech 2 Liter capacity bin blender for 20 mins at 17 rpm. The mixture was screened through a 250µm sieve again into a collection pan. Compritol was also passed through the 250µm sieve into the collection pan. The screened materials were mixed in a Turbula blender for 3 mins at 24 rpm. This formulation will be referred to as 21% X-B3 in this text.

# 3.4: Testing procedure

A Globepharma Minipress II rotary press was used to evaluate all formulations in this work. Only one of the 10 stations were used to manufacture tablets. Punches and removable tips are cleaned using methanol and stored at room temperature and ambient relative humidity for at least 2 days prior to use. The instrument settings were generally kept constant for all experiments performed in this work. The turret speed was set to 30rpm which produced on average 16 tablets per minute using a single station. A force feeder was used for all testing and the feeder speed was set to 30rpm. Pre-compression of powder was conducted by manual adjustment of pre-compression roller to an arbitrary vertical displacement which was kept constant for all testing in this work.

The manual adjustments of vertical displacement on the main compression roller and powder fill height are initially adjusted for each formulation tested such that tablets are compacted to an approximate relative density of 0.85 and fill weight of approximately 230mg. The dimensions and weight of compacted tablets are measured periodically throughout the compression cycle. The actual recorded relative densities and tablet weights are presented. The tablet dimensions are measured using a digital caliper and tablet weights are measured using a Mettler AX205 analytical balance. The appearance of the tablets faces are photographed as necessary when sticking is observed. A bright fiber optic light is used to illuminate the surface of tablets in order to inspect and document the subtle features that are otherwise difficult to observe. The tablet break force is measured by diametrical compression using a Pharmatron 8M hardness tester. The break strength of tablets compacted using the flat face radius edge tip are calculated using Equation (1) where P is the applied load at fracture, D is diameter and t is the thickness of tablet (57,65).

$$\sigma_f = \frac{2P}{\pi Dt} \tag{1}$$

The break strength of tablets compacted using the standard cup tip are calculated using Equation (2) where P is the applied load at fracture, D is diameter, t is thickness of tablet and W is the cylindrical wall thickness of the tablet (57,66).

$$\sigma_f = \frac{10P}{\pi D^2} \left[ \frac{2.48t}{D} - \frac{0.126t}{W} + \frac{3.15W}{D} + 0.01 \right]^{-1}$$
(2)

The relative density of tablets are calculated using Equation (3) where  $\rho$  is the apparent density of the tablet and  $\rho_t$  is the true density of the powder.

Relative Density = 
$$\rho/\rho_t$$
 (3)

The apparent density of tablets are calculated using Equation (4) where M is tablet weight,  $V_c$  is the punch tip cup volume and  $V_w$  is the cylindrical volume calculated using the tablet diameter and wall thickness.

Apparent Density, 
$$\rho = \frac{M}{(2 \times V_c) + V_w}$$
 (4)

The cup volume of the punch tips are listed in Figure 13.

The punch tip is also removed periodically throughout the compression cycle. Removal of the punch tip is done carefully by handling the tip only by its side wall while avoiding contact with the face of the tip. After removal, the side wall of the tip is wiped clean with a tissue (Kimtech Science KimWipes). The appearance of the removable upper punch tip and the lower punch tip is photographed as necessary when sticking is evident. The weight of the tip is measured using a Mettler MX5 Microbalance. The weight of the material adhered to the removable punch tip is calculated by subtracting the starting weight of the tip. The tip is carefully replaced back on the upper punch and fastened while avoiding contact with the tip face. Compression cycles are resumed and this procedure is repeated at a various sampling time points.

# **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS & OBSERVATIONS**

### 4.1: Evaluation of blend containing 30% Ibuprofen

The sticking profile of the 30% IBU blend is shown in Figure 17. The 30% IBU blend shows a rapid rate of increase in adhered weight after about 200 compression cycles. The tablet break strength is observed to gradually decrease throughout the experiment. The decrease in break strength may be due to the decrease in tablet weight between cycle # 50 and 350. The relative density of the tablets remained fairly constant throughout the experiment (RD $\approx$ 0.9). The images of tablets and punch faces captured in this study are shown in Figure 18. Sticking on the upper punch face is evident after just 10 compression cycles. The adhered material at this point appears as a light dusting of powder on the punch face. The bottom punch face showed very minimal sticking throughout the study. By cycle #30, a thin and roughly circular spot of material was observed on the center of the upper tip face. Note that the weight of the adhered material is less than 200µg. After 50 compression cycles, the spot appears to have more defined edges on the periphery. The size of the spot and weight of the adhered material appears to be maintained roughly constant up to about 200 cycles. However the shape of the spot edge contour is observed to change.

As the adhered material grows to become more defined by cycle #50 (ie: from an appearance of light dusting of powder to a thin film-like spot with distinct edges), impressions left on the tablet face become more evident. A slightly darker shaded spot whose geometry is complimentary to the spot on the tip face can be observed on the tablet face by cycle #50. At this point, this feature on the tablet face is nearly invisible to the naked eye until illuminated by light. The difference in appearance of light reflected from the within the spot and the periphery makes the feature observable. An SEM image of the top face of the tablet is shown in Figure 19.

The contour of the region affected by sticking on the tablet face is indicated by a blue line. No gross difference in appearance between the affected and peripheral regions on the tablet were noticed. The affected area appeared to be embossed by the material adhered to the punch tip. The weight of the material adhered to the tip increases significantly after 200 cycles. The thickness and diameter of the adhered spot is observed to be larger by cycle #350. Between cycle# 350 and 450, the material remaining in hopper had become insufficient and proper die filling of powder was inadequate. No tablets were tested in this range. However, both punch faces showed a considerable increase by cycle #450. An SEM image of the material adhered to the punch face after the 450<sup>th</sup> cycle is shown in Figure 20. Chunks of loose material was observed to adhere to the punch face as die filling became inadequate. A Stitched SEM image of the top face of Tablet #49 is shown in Figure 21.



Figure 17 – Data obtained for 30% IBU formulation.

	Top Punch	Bottom Punch	Top Face	Bottom Face
Cycle #10				
Cycle #30				
Cycle #50	6			
Cycle #100		0		
Cycle #200				
Cycle #350		$\bigcirc$	0	0
Cycle #450				

Figure 18 – Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 30% IBU formulation.



Figure 19 – SEM images of the top surface of tablet #50 from the 30% IBU study. Left: low magnification image showing both the reflective region on the tablet and the region affected by sticking. A contour is drawn on the image to help identify the boundary between the two regions which is otherwise difficult to observe. Right: magnified image showing the two regions.



*Figure 20 – SEM image showing the surface of the adhered material on the punch face for the 30% IBU formulation after the 450<sup>th</sup> compression cycle.* 



Figure 21 – (A) Stitched SEM image of the top face of Tablet #49 from 30% IBU Study. (B) Photograph of punch face after cycle #50. (C) Photograph of upper punch face after cycle #50 with coordinates. (D) Photograph of the top face of tablet #50. (E) Photograph of the top face of tablet #50 with coordinates.

### 4.2: Evaluation of blend containing 30% micronized Ibuprofen

The sticking profile of the 30% IBU-MIC blend is shown in Figure 22. Testing on micronized Ibuprofen showed to have a profound effect on sticking. Die filling was observed to be inadequate and to progressively worsen past 50 compression cycles. Consequently, tablet strength and relative density are also observed to show large fluctuations. After just 10 compression cycles, a thin film of adhered material (see Figure 23) weighing just under 200µg is observed. At this point, the upper punch body is observed to accumulate a dusting of fine powder. After about 19 compression cycles, the neck of the upper punch body is fully covered with fine powder. An increase in the sound coming from the instrument during each compression cycle, just as the top punch leaves contact with the main compression roller was noted. Sticking on the punch face was visible from cycle #2 onwards. Stitched SEM images of the top face of tablets #2 & #5 are shown in Figure 24.

A significant increase in adhered weight is recorded just after 30 compression cycles. Considerable sticking is also observed on the bottom punch throughout the study. The fluctuation of adhered weight caused by the accumulation and detachment of material is evident from the pictures shown in Figure 23. The detachment of a section of material from the film is observed at cycle #30 while cycle #50 shows that the affected region has re-accumulated material. The punch tip at cycle #112 shows the detachment of a large section of material which occurred when die filling and tablet strength was just briefly improved. It was also observed that the material adhered to the bottom punch was removed. A snapshot of the die filling just prior to this cycle (at cycle #110) is also shown in Figure 23. Tablet #112 showed an impression on its surface that was complimentary to the geometry of the material adhered to the punch tip.



Figure 22 – Data obtained for 30% IBU-MIC formulation.
	Top Punch	Bottom Punch	Top Face	Bottom Face	Other
Cycle #1		$\bigcirc$			
Cycle #10					
Cycle #30					19
Cycle #50					
Cycle #100					
Cycle #112	$\bigcirc$				1110
Cycle #117					

Figure 23 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 30% IBU-MIC formulation.



Figure 24 – Stitched SEM image of the top face of Tablet #2 and #5 from 30% IBU-MIC Study. The bright regions are the surfaces of MCC particles while the dark regions consists of ibuprofen, MgSt and surface cavities.

# 4.3: Evaluation of blend containing 30% Acetylsalicylic Acid

The sticking profile of the 30% ASA blend is shown in Figure 25. Evaluation on the 30% ASA blend showed a slow process of sticking. For 350 compression cycles, all recordings of adhered weight stayed below 100µg. The bottom punch face was always observed to be free of adhered particles and the top punch face showed minimal sticking that appeared only as a light dusting of particles (see Figure 26). Both the tablet weight and relative density was observed to increase.



Figure 25 – Data obtained for 30% ASA formulation.



*Figure 26 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 30% ASA formulation.* 

# 4.4: Evaluation of blend containing 21% Compound X - Batch 1

A schematic of the tablet shape chosen for manufacturing compound X is shown in Figure 27. Formulations containing compound X were found to exhibit sticking at certain curved regions of the tablet face as indicated in red in Figure 27. Three formulations of compound X (21% X-B1, 21% X-B2 & 21% X-B3) were evaluated using the standard cup tip. The sticking profiles from the three studies are shown in Figure 17. Each of the three formulations contain 21% drug loading. Formulations 1 and 2 (21% X-B1 & 21% X-B2) only differ slightly in that formulation 1 contains slightly higher mannitol and lower MCC. Formulation 3 (21% X-B3) is similar to formulation 2 except that the lubricant used is Compritol as supposed to Magnesium Stearate.



Figure 27 – Schematic of tablet shape for compound X

The sticking profile of the 21% X-B1 blend is shown in Figure 29. After 350 compression cycles of the 21% X-B1 formulation, the hopper was nearly empty and loose powder that was collected off the die table was poured back into the hopper. The break strength and tablet weight is found to increase after 350 cycles which is likely caused by the presence of densified material in the reclaimed loose powder. The densified material is shown in Figure 28. The densified material is likely shavings of compacted material from adhering to the side wall of the upper punch and the surface of the die table. Photographs of the tablet and punch faces for this study is shown in Figure 30. The upper punch tip initially shows a light dusting of powder at cycle #30 which progressively develops into a cap of adhered material in the center of the punch cavity. Sticking was not evident on the bottom punch for 21% X-B1.



Figure 28 – Reclaimed material from the 21% X-B1 formulation was sieved using a sieve with a  $600\mu m$  opening (30 mesh). Compacted plate-shaped fragments are observed in the reclaimed powder.



Figure 29 – Data obtained for 21% X-B1 formulation.

	Top Punch	Bottom Punch	Top Face	Bottom Face
Cycle #30				
Cycle #50				
Cycle #100				
Cycle #200				
Cycle #350				$\bigcirc$
Cycle #600		$\bigcirc$		
Cycle #768				

Figure 30 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 21% X-B1 formulation.

# 4.5: Evaluation of blend containing 21% Compound X - Batch 2

The sticking profile of the 21% X-B2 blend is shown in Figure 31. For the 21% X-B2 blend, the upper punch tip also initially shows a light dusting of powder at cycle #30 which progressively develops into a cap of adhered material in the center of the punch cavity. The tablet geometry is also observed to evolve as the punch face geometry is altered by adhered material. A picture of the top tablet face at cycle #200 is shown in Figure 32. A flat region in the center of the top face of the tablet is observed which results from the flat surface of the cap adhered to the upper punch tip. Furthermore, a film of material adhered to the periphery of the cap is formed by cycle #600. This film appears to have grown in thickness by cycle #650 at which point the film and the cap is observed to leave a noticeable impression on the tablet face. Between cycle #600 and #650, the bottom punch tip appears to have developed a circular ring of adhered material.



Figure 31 – Data obtained for 21% X-B2 formulation.

	Top Punch	Bottom Punch	Top Face	Bottom Face	Other
Cycle #30				$\bigcirc$	
Cycle #50					
Cycle #100					
Cycle #200					
Cycle #350					
Cycle #450					
Cycle #600			$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	
Cycle #650		$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$		

Figure 32 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 21% X-B2 formulation.

# 4.6: Evaluation of blend containing 21% Compound X - Batch 3

The sticking profile of the 21% X-B1 blend is shown in Figure 33. For the 21% X-B3 blend, the upper punch tip initially develops a film of adhered material at cycle #30. Then a distinctly observable cap region is developed in the center of the punch cavity at cycle #350. The central cap is observed to grow in thickness with continued compression cycles. The impressions imprinted on the tablet face by the top punch tip becomes evident by cycle #200 and is shown in Figure 34. The bottom punch tip is observed to gradually film at cycle #350. At cycle #550, the bottom punch develops a circular ring of adhered material on top of the film. A complementary geometry is also observed on the bottom face of the tablet. Both 21% X-B1 and 21% X-B2 show similar and reduced sticking behavior while 21% X-B3 shows significant sticking. The break strength of tablets of the 21% X-B3 blend are considerably higher than those of 21% X-B1 and 21% X-B2 while the relative densities are comparable for all three formulations. By comparing the appearance of the upper punch tip in 21% X-B1 and 21% X-B2 at cycle #350, it is evident that 21% X-B2 exhibits more sticking (adhered wt. = 153µg) than 21% X-B1 (adhered wt. = 85µg). In contrast, 21% X-B3 shows a significant increase in sticking at cycle #350 (adhered wt. = 2200µg). All the formulations show different patterns of sticking that evolve with the compression cycles.



Figure 33 – Data obtained for 21% X-B3 formulation.

	Top Punch	Bottom Punch	Top Face	Bottom Face	Other
Cycle #30					
Cycle #50					
Cycle #100			$\bigcirc$		
Cycle #200			$\bigcirc$		
Cycle #350					
Cycle #550					
Cycle #651					

Figure 34 - Photographs of punch faces and tablets for 21% X-B3 formulation.

# 4.7: Evaluation of powder containing 100% Ibuprofen

Compaction of pure Ibuprofen (100% IBU) was conducted in a separate study in order to observe the onset of sticking. A different batch of Ibuprofen was used in this work and the average particle size (x50 = 60µm) of this batch (shown in Figure 36) is larger than that used in the 30% IBU formulation (x50 = 36µm, shown in Figure 16). An SEM image of the ibuprofen sample as received from the supplier is shown in Figure 35. The upper punch tip was examined under a scanning electron microscope after the 1<sup>st</sup> compaction cycle and is shown in Figure 37 and Figure 38. The size of particles that remained adhered to the punch tip were roughly on the order of 50µm and below. A small fraction of particles were observed to be deformed and a larger fraction consisted of un-deformed or minimally deformed particles. A magnified image of a deformed particle is also shown and appears to be completely different in morphology compared to undeformed Ibuprofen. After approximately 20 compaction cycles with 100% IBU, the upper punch body was observed to accumulate a fine dusting of particles similar to that observed with the 30% IBU-MIC formulation, see Figure 39.



*Figure 35 – SEM image of Ibuprofen (as received from supplier).* 



*Figure 36 – Particle size distribution of Ibuprofen used in the 100% IBU study. The secondary axis is showing the cumulative volume percent.* 



Figure 37 – Upper punch tip after 1<sup>st</sup> compaction cycle with 100% Ibuprofen. Particles that are both minimally deformed and some that are heavily deformed are observed. A few deformed particles are highlighted by a circle in the image.



*Figure 38 –SEM image showing a heavily deformed particle after 1<sup>st</sup> compaction cycle with 100% lbuprofen.* 



*Figure 39 – Compaction with 100% Ibuprofen. Note: the upper punch body covered with fine particles adhered to its surface by static charge.* 

# 4.8: Key observations

The following is a list of key observations made throughout all experimentations conducted on ibuprofen.

#	Observation
1	Compaction with 30% IBU, 30% IBU-MIC and 100%-IBU, all showed an accumulation of
	fines particles coating the body of the upper punch.
2	Sticking is more pronounced on the top punch than the bottom punch.
3	All testing conducted with Ibuprofen showed that sticking started at the center of the
	punch face.
4	Milling of Ibuprofen resulted in ~90% reduction in the mean particle size (d50).
5	Micronized ibuprofen was observed to exhibit significant triboelectric charging and could
	not be initially sieved through a 710µm screen. Even after vigorous mixing with MCC on
	the Turbula blender, the powder revealed large lumps of aggregated Ibuprofen which was
	broken apart and pushed through the sieve.
6	Particles on the order of 50 $\mu$ m and below were observed on the punch tip after the 1 <sup>st</sup>
	compaction cycle with 100% IBU.
7	A few deformed particles were also observed on the punch tip after the 1 <sup>st</sup> compaction
	cycle with 100% IBU.
8	Capping was observed in tablets of 100% IBU.
9	With the 30% IBU formulation, a sudden increase in the amount of material adhered to
	the top punch was observed when die filling became inadequate.
10	Die filling with ibuprofen formulations was observed to be adequate initially but become
	progressively worse.

11	All Ibuprofen formulations tested showed 'ratholing', ie: improper funnel flow of powder
	in the hopper.
12	During compaction with Ibuprofen formulations, the sound coming from the instrument
	during each compression cycle became progressively louder.
13	Compaction with 100% IBU showed streaks of adhered material on the side walls of both
	the upper and lower punch tip.
14	Ibuprofen is very poorly hygroscopic and only shows a 0.1% moisture uptake from 40% to
	90% RH. See Appendix A.

# **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

#### 5.1: Patterns in sticking

Sticking in tablet compaction is a complex phenomenon that is typically attributed by multiple factors. This fact is clearly evident due to the various factors reported in literature said to affect sticking. Therefore the mechanism of sticking with one formulation may differ from that observed with another. With the ibuprofen formulations (30% IBU & 30% IBU-MIC) tested in this work, the evolution of sticking involves a filming and layering process. At the very onset of sticking, particles must first adhere to the punch face as shown in Figure 40A. This initial adherence appear as a light dusting of powder on the punch face. Further sticking will result in a filming layer of particles adhering to the punch face. It is this initial layer that is responsible for adhesion on to the punch face. As sticking progresses, particles from the tablet face must now adhere to the surfaces of particles that are already making first contact with the punch face as shown in Figure 40B. Particles will continue to adhere by gradually layering on top of each other as shown in Figure 40C. Particles that form subsequent layers are held together by cohesive forces between them. This event results in the growth in thickness of the adhered material.





The studies conducted in this work reveals that during sticking, the materials adhered to

the punch tip can evolve to exhibit various geometrical patterns. It is also observed that the

bottom punch tip consistently exhibits less sticking than the top punch. Sticking in all multicomponent formulations tested in this work show that the central region of the punch tip accumulates material faster than the peripheral regions. As the punch tip is accumulating material, the geometry of the compressing face is also evolving. For example, the punch face at cycle #550 in the 21% X-B3 study (see Figure 34) shows a thick cap region in the center of the cavity surrounded by a film. The growth of the film and cap on the upper punch tip is coupled with the growth of the ring of adhered material on the bottom punch face at cycle #550. As the weight of adhered material on the punch face increases, the total weight of the material essentially loaded in the die during compaction increases. This is because the weight of the powder filled into the die (ie: fill weight) plus the weight of the adhered material on the punch tip is higher relative to a situation where the punch tip is clean with no sticking. Compacting a larger quantity of material in the die while keeping the vertical displacement of the main compression roller constant will result in higher compression forces exerted onto the compact.

It was visually observed that inadequate die filling was often coupled with the pickup of large chunks of material on to the punch face. A photograph of the punch face during this event is shown in Figure 18 for the 30% IBU study after at the 450<sup>th</sup> cycle. However this accumulation of material is not the same mechanism of sticking that was observed prior to this event which is a slow layering process. The large chunks picked up by the punch are fairly loosely adhering material that can be blown off by compressed air.

# 5.2: Pressure dependence

The abrupt and complete detachment of adhered material from the bottom punch and partial detachment from the top punch when die filling was briefly improved was observed in the 30% IBU-MIC formulation at cycle #112. It is interesting to note two observations here: (1) the

upper punch face consistently showed more sticking and accumulated material faster than the lower punch and (2) when the punches showed an abrupt loss in adhered material, a complete loss on the lower punch and a partial loss on the upper was observed. This result indicates that sticking with ibuprofen exhibits a pressure dependence. In order to properly evaluate the effect of pressure on sticking, it would be necessary compress tablets to varying relative densities. Such experiments with ibuprofen have been previously conducted and reported in literature (59,39).

When the die is only partially filled, the maximum compressive force exerted by the punch on the powder bed would be lower than that of a properly filled die. As the die filling suddenly improves when sticking is present, the total weight of material loaded into the die increases. Therefore, the compressive force exerted by the punch would also increase resulting in a harder compact. It is well known that when sticking is present, a remedy to remove the adhered material is to abruptly increase the compressive force (58). This observation is in agreement with results reported in literature for compaction with Ibuprofen formulations (59,39). The accumulation and loss of adhered weight with Ibuprofen is a cyclic a process.

# 5.3: Fragmentation and particle size

The study conducted with micronized ibuprofen (30% IBU-MIC) clearly demonstrates that the reduction in particle size results in increased sticking. The micronization of ibuprofen resulted in a ~90% decrease in mean size and this suggests that ibuprofen is brittle and can be easily fractured. For comparison, micronization of MCC using the same milling conditions resulted in only a ~55% decrease in mean size (see Appendix E). It is also reported in literature that Ibuprofen undergoes fragmentation under compaction (71). Sticking is observed to occur in materials such as lactose, mefenamic acid and Calcium hydrogen phosphate dehydrate which are also reported to undergo fragmentation (54). A number of other observations documented in the present work strongly indicates that particle size plays a major role in sticking of ibuprofen.



Figure 41 – Particle size estimation by image analysis on the fine particles observed to adhere on to the surface of the larger particles of ibuprofen (as received from supplier). Mean size is calculated to be ~15 $\mu$ m. The zoomed inset image on the left highlights a few surface particles included in the measurement.

An SEM image of the ibuprofen crystals used to prepare the formulation for the 30% IBU study is shown in Figure 35. The presence of fine particles on the surface of large particles can be confirmed in this image. Manual measurements were conducted using image analysis in order to estimate the size of the fine particles observed in the image. The results of this estimation are shown in Figure 41. The average size of the fine particles is on the order of 15µm. Particle size data (by laser light scattering) on this batch of ibuprofen (see Figure 16) shows that roughly about 10% of particles by volume have sizes on the order of 10µm and under. Particle size data on the micronized version of this batch used in the 30% IBU-MIC study (see Figure 16) shows that roughly about 90% of particles by volume have sizes on the order of 10µm and under. The marked difference in the fraction of fine particles between the 30% IBU and 30% IBU-MIC blends is the single most obvious powder attribute that qualitatively scales with the marked difference in their sticking behavior.



Figure 42 – Particle size estimation by image analysis on an SEM image showing the surface of the adhered material on the punch face for the 30% IBU formulation after the 450<sup>th</sup> compression cycle. The zoomed inset image on the left highlights a few particles included in the measurement.

An SEM image taken of the surface of the punch after the first compression cycle with 100% ibuprofen is shown in Figure 37. Particles that are both minimally deformed and some that are heavily deformed can be observed on the punch tip. It can be seen that the size of the minimally deformed particles were roughly on the order of 50µm and below. An SEM image taken of the surface of the punch after the 450th compression cycle with the 30% IBU formulation is shown in Figure 20. In this image, it is evident that the material adhering to the exterior surface of the adhered mass consists of small particles. Manual measurements were conducted using image analysis in order to estimate the size of these particles. The results of this estimation are shown in Figure 42. The average particle size was on the order of 15µm.

The results presented clearly indicate that the size of the particles adhering to the punch face is small (well below 50µm). The average size of adhering particles is estimated around 15µm and this indicates the existence of a size dependence having to do with sticking. Furthermore, the presence of fine particles during compression can form plugs between the die wall and the side wall of the punch tip. This is evidenced by the streaks of adhered material on the die wall which was observed to occur in both ibuprofen and ASA. This can result in poor air evacuation during compression and cause air entrapment within the compact. However, it is currently not clear whether this occurs and what its effect would be on sticking.

# 5.4: Triboelectric charging

The various effects of triboelectric charging with ibuprofen was observed numerous times throughout this work. During the micronization of ibuprofen, it was observed that the micronized powder exhibited significant triboelectric charging. The micronized powder was very difficult to handle and could not be easily sieved during formulation preparation for the 30% IBU-MIC study. The material was also observed to be very cohesive. Although the particle size of this powder was on the order of about 5µm on average (see Figure 16), the material by itself could not be sieved through a sieve opening of 710µm (25 Mesh). Mixing of the micronized powder with MCC allowed better handling of the material. It was after this procedure that the material could be sieved.

30% IBU-MIC Cycle #19

Figure 43 – Showing the differences observed in die filling for the 30% IBU-MIC formulation. Die filling was observed to worsen with successive compression cycles. The images were captured just before the start of compression. The neck of the upper punch is observed to continually accumulate a dusting of fine statically charged powder.

The dusting of fine statically charged powder on the punch body was observed in all studies dealing with the compaction of Ibuprofen (100% IBU, 30% IBU & 30% IBU-MIC).



Photographs of the punch showing this effect is presented in Figure 43 The coating of the punch body by fine particles may be further facilitated by the evacuation of air from the powder bed as the top punch plunges into the die. This process can eject some powder upwards from the periphery of the powder bed allowing particles to become airborne and thus adhere onto the punch body. A similar phenomenon is also observed in other materials that are reported to fragment under compaction and also exhibit sticking. An example of such a material is Mefenamic acid. This is evident in the photographs presented by Abdel-Hamid and Betz (54) that show the dusting of powder on the punch body. Moreover, die filling was observed to progressively worsen with ibuprofen formulations, see Figure 43. This may be due to triboelectric charging of the powder in the force feeder as the powder is pushed around by the rotary paddles. Triboelectric charging can increase the cohesiveness of the powder blends and decrease powder flow. This can occur in blends containing components that can charge oppositely causing them to be attracted to each other (73).

An image of a single tablet compacted with 100% ASA is shown in Figure 44B. The tablet is observed to be fully coated with loose particles of ASA that are statically charged. The loose particles were picked from the die tablet as the tablet was ejected. ASA exhibits similar properties with ibuprofen in that it is poorly hygroscopic (see Appendix C) and prone to significant surface charging as observed with the compaction of 100% ASA. It is interesting to note that the ASA powder initially when poured into the die did not exhibit static charging. It was only after the tablet was formed and ejected that loose ASA particles on the die table were observed to attract to the tablet. It may be so that charging of ASA particles on the surface of the tablet occurs as the powder is rubbed against the metal surfaces of the punch and die. The attraction of loose powder from the die table may indicate that the ASA powder and ASA on tablet surface may be oppositely charged. The average particle size of ASA used in this work is on the order of 216µm (see Appendix I). Low levels of static charging of ASA may not be evident due to the large mass of individual ASA particles.

Similarly, fine charged particles in the powder or from the surface of tablets may adhere to punch surfaces as a result of electrostatic induction. In a lubricated blend, the fragmentation of particles will results in the creation of new non-lubricated surfaces and may facilitate static charging. Furthermore the presence of asperities on the particle surface can cause the accumulation of surface charge. Shimada et al (17) demonstrated this effect on glass particles. In their experiment, glass beads with smooth surfaces exhibited less adhesion while irregular shaped glass exhibited increased adhesion attributed to triboelectric charging.



Figure 44 – Compaction of a single tablet of 100% ASA to a relative density of 0.92. (A) Showing the streaking of die wall by ASA. (B) Ejected tablet is coated with loose statically charged ASA particles that picked up from the die table. (C) Tablet was air-dusted to remove loose particles.

The fundamental mechanism by which toner particles are deposited on to the surface of paper deals with the manipulation of surface charging. The adhesion of toner particles is demonstrated to be significantly influenced by patchy surface charging due to their irregular morphology (11). The surface morphology of ibuprofen particles tested in this work was found exhibit a rough surface texture. Sharp surface asperities can enhance the ability of the powder to accumulate static charge. An SEM image showing the surface of ibuprofen particles is presented in Appendix F. It is probable that the static charging of particles can contribute to sticking. This phenomenon may facilitate the pickup of fragmented ibuprofen particles off the tablet face and onto the surface of the adhered mass on the punch tip.

# 5.5: Observations on surfaces of tablets and punch

A number of important observations regarding the appearance of both the punch and tablet surfaces affected by sticking are noted in this work. Some of the interesting observations made with ibuprofen offer certain clues regarding the process of sticking. The surface of the punch tip after the first compression cycle with 100% ibuprofen revealed the presence of both heavily deformed particles and minimally deformed fragments, see Figure 37. The presence of heavily deformed particles adhering directly on the punch face indicates that surely ibuprofen can be squeezed and smeared on to the surface instead of just infinitely fragmenting under compression. The punch tip after the 450<sup>th</sup> compression cycle with 30% IBU formulation also showed the presence of several minimally deformed fragments, see Figure 20. The presence of minimally deformed fragments observed to adhere either directly on to the metal surface or on to the adhered mass on the punch face indicates that there may be a process that allows these particles to at least initially adhere to the punch face before being pressed on.

Fragmentation of ibuprofen will generate fine particles that are statically charged and consisting of surfaces that are not lubricated. It has been observed in this work that fine charged particles can adhere on to the punch body during compression. It may be also possible for the punch face to pick up fine charged particles off the tablet face. An SEM image of the top central region of a tablet from the 30% IBU-MIC study is shown in Figure 45. The image shown is of the tablet made from the 2<sup>nd</sup> compression cycle. The interstitial spaces between the MCC particles are observed to primarily consist of cavities and fragments of ibuprofen. It is possible that fragmented particles of ibuprofen can be picked up by the punch tip from these interstitial regions

on the tablet surface. The initial adhesion of these particles on the punch tip may be dominated by electrostatic forces. A schematic illustrating this concept is shown in Figure 46.



Figure 45 – SEM image of the top center of a tablet (30% IBU-MIC, cycle #2) consisting of 30% micronized ibuprofen. The bright regions are flattened MCC particles and an example of this particle is shown in (A). The interstitial spaces between the MCC particles primarily consist of fragments of ibuprofen appearing as a slightly darker shade of gray as highlighted in (B) or surface cavities appearing dark regions as highlighted in (C).

MCC is not expected to adhere to the punch face to any significant extend. This is known

because MCC can be visually identified from the SEM images due to its size and morphology. MCC is readily identified by its appearance on the tablet surface as large flattened particles which is not observed on the tip surface. Further evidence can be found in literature where elemental analysis by Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy (EDS) show MCC to not adhere to the punch face but to remain only on the tablet surface after compaction (8). In addition, HPLC analysis of the composition of material adhering to the punch face with Ibuprofen formulations show that the

adhered mass consists primarily of just ibuprofen alone (56). MgSt is also not expected to adhere on to the punch face or to the adhered mass to any significant extent. EDS data reported in literature on sticking formulations show that relatively, the tablet surface exhibits much higher levels of MgSt than the punch face (5,8).

Therefore it is reasonable to assume that in this work, the adhered mass on the punch face with ibuprofen formulations (30% IBU & 30% IBU-MIC) consists primarily of just ibuprofen. With this condition, the filming and layering process of sticking in ibuprofen formulations will require a mechanism that selectively removes ibuprofen off the tablet face and somehow pressed on to the face of the punch or on to the existing adhered mass. The exact mechanism of how this process occurs is not clear. Perhaps, static charging may enable ibuprofen fragments to initially adhere to the punch face by electrostatic forces and then later pressed on to the surface in a following compression cycle resulting in a layering process.



Figure 46 – Schematic illustration of a compact consisting of ibuprofen and MCC. MCC is depicted as a networking mesh held together by making contact with neighboring MCC particles. Ibuprofen is depicted as the material contained within the mesh. The textured regions depict zones where fragmented ibuprofen that is in contact with the punch face.

#### 5.6: Temperature

Ibuprofen has a low melting onset of about 74°C with a glass transition temperature of approximately -46°C (see Appendix B). Moreover, ibuprofen and MgSt are reported to form eutectics that lower the melting onset of ibuprofen (10,77). The effect of temperature on sticking is not investigated in this work and is not expected to contribute to the sticking observed in the present studies for ibuprofen formulations. High compaction speeds and elevated temperatures are reported in literature to increase sticking with low melt compounds such as ibuprofen (59) and butyl paraben (4). However, the duration of the compression cycles (from the beginning of powder compression to the end of ejection) used for the present study was approximately 1.3 seconds which is much slower than typical large scale production speeds.

The sound coming from the instrument during each compression cycle (just as the top punch left contact with the main compression roller) was observed to increase progressively for the 30% IBU study. The tablet weights and relative densities in this study remained fairly constant. Therefore, the compression force exerted on the powder must have remained fairly constant as well. This observation thus indicate that the friction at the punch-die interface may have increased with successive compression cycles. This is further evidenced by the observation of streaks of adhered material on the die wall and on the side wall of the upper punch tip. Although such friction can cause a rise in temperature at the tooling interface, the punch tip probably will not accumulate heat with a slow compression speed. Therefore, sticking due to a temperature rise caused by tooling friction is improbable for the present study. Furthermore, it is not clear whether the amorphization of Ibuprofen particles occur at the punch surface when subjected to compressive and shear stresses during tablet compaction. If this event does occur, then it would be necessary to understand its implication on sticking.

#### 5.7: Punch cleaning

The conditioning of the punch tip is known to affect sticking. It was discussed in an earlier chapter that factors such as punch surface roughness, punch surface chemistry and moisture can affect the level of sticking observed in various materials. Polished punch surfaces typically show score marks on the punch tip resulting from the polishing process. In some cases, the punch faces can contain contaminants such as residual polishing compound and can be difficult to clean. In a separate experiment conducted in this work, punch cleaning was observed to affect sticking of ibuprofen. A flat faced radius edge tip was cleaned with methanol and then dried with a KimWipe tissue. The tip face was then air-dusted by using compressed nitrogen gas. The punch tip was then immediately used to compression 100% ibuprofen into a tablet of 0.88 relative density. The punch tip was then examined by SEM in order to observe the effect on sticking. An SEM image of the punch tip is included in Appendix G.

The appearance of ibuprofen on the punch face was as if molten ibuprofen was poured on the surface creating an intimate contact and flowing into the polishing score marks. Although no further work was conducted to investigate this, it is evident that the cleaning of the punch face can affect sticking. It is important to note that ibuprofen is highly soluble in methanol on the order of about 50mg/ml according to manufacturer's product data sheet. There are two important factors that need to be considered here. (1) The cleaning of the punch tip in this case could easily seem sufficient since it was both wiped thoroughly and air-dusted. However the results show that this is not sufficient and that the punch tip did not properly dry. (2) The selection of the cleaning solvent was not ideal because ibuprofen is highly soluble in methanol. It is therefore imperative that tablet punches are properly cleaned and stored in order to avoid such complexities during tablet manufacture.

#### 5.8: Capping and sticking

Tablets compressed with 100% ibuprofen exhibit the propensity to 'cap'. Capping is a term used to describe the horizontal splitting of the tablet that separates the top cap of a tablet from its body. Capping typically occurs at the top band edge of the tablet. Capping in tablets have been shown to be attributed to various factors such as the stress concentrations in the compact during compression and ejection, presence of fine particles and poor air evacuation during compression (58,81). An example of capping observed during diametrical compression of the tablet composed of 100% ibuprofen is shown in Figure 47A. In a separate experiment conducted in this work, 100% ibuprofen was compacted to a relative density of 0.91. The tip used to form this compact was not cleaned prior to testing. Partial capping was observed to have occurred after ejection of the tablet. The separated cap in this case remained adhered to the punch tip. The occurrence of capping and sticking is also observed with formulations of mefenamic acid (54). The observations presented here demonstrates that sticking can occur by failure in the compact at defect locations. In this case, the defect location lies in the capping zone. Capping was not observed in any of the studies involving MCC mixtures of ibuprofen (ie: 30% IBU & 30% IBU-MIC). It is also important to note that sticking with 100% ibuprofen does not always involve capping. It can occur as the adhesion of individual particles and also as randomly scattered islands of particles on the punch tip. This highlights the complex nature of sticking in that a single component powder like ibuprofen alone can exhibit various types of sticking by various processes.



Figure 47 – (A) Showing the fractured pieces of a tablet after diametrical compression. The tablet is composed of 100% ibuprofen was compressed to a relative density of ~0.85. (B) Showing the punch tip with a capped region adhered to its face after compressing 100% ibuprofen to a relative density of 0.91. (C) Showing the surface of the same capped tablet.

# 5.9: Removable punch tip

The results presented in this work clearly demonstrate that the removable punch tip is a very useful tool to study sticking. It allows for the direct quantification of sticking by measurement of adhered weight as low as at least a 100µg. The small size of the tip makes it convenient to study the phenomenon of sticking compared to handling the entire punch. The small size also allows for a host of experimental techniques to be employed directly on the tip surface with ease. The punch tip method offers the advantage of quickly quantifying sticking by simple weighing and allowing for testing to resume by simply replacing the tip. This technique avoids having to remove the entire punch in order to inspect the tip or to clean its surface. However, handling of the tip must be done carefully not to disturb the adhered material. In the present punch tip design, material adhered to the side wall of the tip will be disturbed since this location is used to grip the tip when being handled.

The amount of material required to assess the propensity of sticking in a given formulation can vary depending on the equipment used and rate at which material can accumulate on the punch tip. For example, about 140 grams of material was prepared for the 30% IBU study for testing on a rotary press. However, only about 80 grams (~340 tablets at 235mg each) could be comfortably used for the study. This is because about 60 grams of material was wasted in various ways such as priming the force feeder, loose powder on the die table, trial tablets prepared to adjust instrument to desired settings. In contrast, the data collected in this work show that the sticking propensity of formulations can be assessed in just a minimal number of compression cycles. For example, 50 compression cycles would be sufficient to compare the 30% IBU to 30% IBU-MIC formulations. However, the 30% ASA formulation showed a very slow process of sticking and may require over a 1000 compression cycles until the accumulation of adhered weight can reach detectable levels.

An alternative method to weighing the punch tip could be to measure the quantity of adhered material by liquid chromatography (HPLC). Quantification with this technique may reduce the number of cycles required assess sticking propensity and could allow for much improved resolution and accuracy. However, this technique can be time consuming and will require dissolving material on the punch tip. Therefore testing will need to be repeated to collect information at higher compression cycles. Sticking can be detected and qualitatively assessed by examining the punch tip by microscopic techniques such as SEM analysis. Such methods will only require very little material to test formulations.

The removable punch tip method is a quick and easy tool for formulators to evaluate sticking of various compression blends. In addition, the punch tips can be manufactured for relatively much cheaper than entire punches. However this technique does not allow for real time measurement of sticking and requires having to stop the tablet press to remove the tip. Therefore this technique is suitable for research use but may not be ideal for use as a manufacturing quality control. Furthermore, the removable punch tip may impose limitations on the maximum load that can be applied to the powder bed depending on design. For example, the threaded hole on the
punch tip where the set screw is placed to fix the punch tip on to the punch body can become a stress concentration point at high loads.

Although the removable punch tip method was used to assess sticking in the present work, the repeatability of this technique was not assessed. Therefore it would be necessary to assess how reproducible the results really are. For example, this would answer if the small difference observed in sticking between the 21% X-B1 & 21% X-B2 studies is real and reproducible. Nevertheless, the punch tip method by far offers significant advantages over many of the techniques found in literature that were discussed earlier. In summary, these advantages include cost, ease of use, quick and direct quantification of sticking and most importantly, the small form factor readily enables various experimentation of the surface to help researchers to begin to unlock the mysteries behind sticking.

### **CHAPTER 6: FUTURE WORK**

The data presented in this work clearly demonstrates the complex nature of sticking due to the several parameters that can simultaneously contribute to the issue. There are several questions that arise from this work that will definitely require further detailed studies on this topic. Without such work, it would be impossible to de-convolute the complexity of sticking. It is necessary to understand exactly how certain parameters affect sticking in order to effectively engineer formulations to mitigate this issue. Therefore the discussion below will present some of these questions and possible experimentation that can be conducted to answer them.sdf

### 6.1: Patterns in sticking

It was mentioned earlier that the appearance of sticking on the punch tip after the very first few compression cycles with the ibuprofen formulations (30% IBU & 30% IBU-MIC) appeared as a light dusting. SEM analysis on 100% ibuprofen revealed that both heavily reformed particles and minimally deformed fragments adhere on to the punch tip. It is not clear whether the minimally deformed fragments are strongly adhered to the tip or just loosely adhered perhaps by static charge. Therefore a statistical evaluation of the relative adhesion forces between these particles and the punch tip could measure how strongly they adhere to the punch tip. A common method described in literature to perform this type of evaluation is the centrifugal technique that was discussed in an earlier chapter. It may also be possible to qualitatively perform this assessment by examining the punch tip after subjecting the surface to compressed air.

It is necessary to identify whether there are physical differences between the various particles adhered to various locations on the punch tip. For example, it would be necessary to confirm whether the heavily deformed particle on the punch tip resulted in its amorphization during compression. Similarly it is of interest to confirm whether the material observed to adhere on to the side wall of the punch tip exhibits any physical changes. Such physical changes to particles can bring about changes to their mechanical properties and may affect sticking. X-ray powder diffraction and spectroscopic techniques such as infra-red and Raman analyses may prove useful to answer these questions.



Figure 48 – Schematic representation of the data reported by Tita et al (82) on ibuprofen and by Tita et al (83) on ASA. This plot shows the DSC thermograms of pure components and 1:1 mixtures of compound to excipient for ibuprofen and ASA.

Furthermore, it is necessary to confirm the compatibility of the compound in question with the excipients chosen in the formulation. It was discussed earlier that MgSt is reported to increase sticking in ibuprofen and ASA. MgSt is also known to form eutectics with ibuprofen resulting in a reduction in the melting onset of ibuprofen. It is therefore imperative to understand how exactly MgSt causes the increase in sticking. Is it a thermal effect, a lubrication effect or something else? Polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) is another excipient reported to affect the thermal properties ibuprofen and ASA. Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) is a useful technique to study these effects. An overlay of the DSC data reported by Tita et al (82) on ibuprofen and by Tita et al (83) on ASA is illustrated in Figure 48. It can be seen that both Ibuprofen and ASA are affected by MgSt and PVP. HPLC can be used as a technique to identify if these interactions produce degradation products of the compound. This indicates that the impact of excipients on sticking of compounds may not only be purely mechanical in nature but may also involve chemical interactions.

The results presented in this work demonstrates that there are certain patterns to sticking. For example, sticking was observed to be more significant in central region of the punch tip. In studies where sticking gradually started out in the central region, the adhered film on the punch was only grossly in the center and grossly circular. In other words, the adhered film was neither perfectly circular nor perfectly in the center. It is curious why this occurs and one would need to examine if this is a random event or if it is dependent on some parameter. Perhaps one could repeat the experiment and verify if the same geometry occurs in the same orientation. If this is the case then the results would suggest that the punch surface is somehow responsible. If the same geometry and orientation is not reproduced, then one can argue that there must be some random process that results in the variation of circularity and orientation of the film.

Various other patterns of sticking were also observed in this work. For example, sticking was observed to be more pronounced on the upper punch than the bottom. The formulations with compound X using concave tips showed various geometrical patterns of sticking. This means that there exists some local conditions throughout the compact during the compression process that results in such patterns. In order to understand these conditions, it would be necessary the study the local properties, events and their evolution during the compression process. For

example, it would be necessary to understand factors such as friction coefficient at the die wall interface, internal angle of friction, local stresses and density distribution in the compact and powder displacements throughout the compression process. Numerical modeling of the compression of powders using Finite Element Method (FEM) would provide valuable insight regarding such local conditions in the compact. A popular model used for FEM analysis of pharmaceutical powders is the Drucker-Prager Cap (DPC) model. The model is particularly useful because it incorporates important factors such as inter-particle cohesion, friction, and the dependency of material properties on relative density.

The removable punch tip method can be used to conduct for a number of controlled experiments to investigate the effect of various parameters on sticking. For example, cleaning of the punch tip was demonstrated to complicate this issue with ibuprofen. Given the complexity of sticking, it is absolutely necessary that studies conducted on this topic are designed as well controlled experiments. This would require that a certain protocol is used for cleaning and storing the punch tips before testing.

### 6.2: Fragmentation

The data presented in this work suggests that the fragmentation of particles contributes to the sticking of ibuprofen. In order to study this effect, it is necessary to evaluate the extent of fragmentation in ibuprofen. Several methods can be used to assess this property and some may be better than others. For example, pure compacts of ibuprofen compressed to various relative densities can be broken apart and dispersed into an appropriate medium in order to conduct Particle Size Analyses (PSA) by laser light scattering. The dispersing media would possibly contain some surfactant and pre-saturated with ibuprofen. A clear dispersant can be produced by filtering the pre-saturated media. The poor solubility of ibuprofen in water (about 21µg/ml according to manufacturer specifications) may allow for the dispersant to be aqueous based. A saturated dispersant with surfactant would to prevent dissolution of tablet fragments and aid in the dispersion of fragments into the media. Sonication may help to disperse the tablet fragments into individual particles. Similarly, PSA can be conducted on the material adhered to the punch tip. Other techniques may involve milling of ibuprofen and subsequently testing for particle size. Several milling techniques are employed in pharmaceutical industry such as air-jet milling and wet bead milling.

It was discussed earlier that the presence of fine particles can result in poor air evacuation and increased friction between the wall of the punch tip and the die wall. This condition can occur when fine particles begin to plug the tolerance space between the punch and the die. The more material plugging the tolerance space the more difficult it is for air evacuation. In this situation, air will need to escape the die with greater velocity. The air evacuation of the die can expel fine particles upwards as the upper punch plunges into the die downwards. Fine particles are observed to coat the neck of the punch body and this may be a result of air evacuation and statically charged particles. It would be interesting to determine the size of the particles coating the punch body and whether it is comparable to the size order of the interstitial spaces between the MCC particles on the surface of the tablet or to the size order of the particles adhering to the punch face. Furthermore, it is important to evaluate whether the fragmentation of ibuprofen can create weakly cohesive defect zones that can initiate cracks. Sticking in compacts of 100% ibuprofen was observed to appear as a pitted surface (see Appendix H). The pickup of large bodies of material that are a few hundred microns in size may be due to the presence of surface defects that can initiate cracks. FEM modeling of such conditions may provide insight into how surface defects can affect sticking.

#### 6.3: Triboelectric charging

The data presented in this work suggests that static charge may play a role in sticking. The charging of particles was observed in both ibuprofen and ASA. In order to understand this effect, it would be necessary to somehow quantity the charging propensity of particles. An established technique cited in literature to conduct this type of work involves the use of a cyclone charger (74). In this technique, particles are spun around in a cylindrical container by a cyclone of air such that they interact with the inner surface of the container. The relative humidity and velocity of the air is controlled and the inner wall of the cylindrical container can be modified by inserts. Specialized metal inserts may be used such that the particle contacting surface closely resembles the face of the punch. The net specific charge accumulated by the powder can be measured by using a Faraday pail. The Faraday pail consists of two metal cups separated by an insulator such that the outer cup protects the inner cup from disturbances by external electric fields (73). The powder can be poured into the Faraday pail and the charge can be measured using an electrometer.

The cyclone charger technique can be a useful technique to not only measure the charging propensity of powders but also to study how charged powders interact with surfaces. Several factors can affect triboelectric charging of powders such as morphology, conductivity and humidity to name a few. Testing the electrical properties of powders and compacts such as resistance may provide useful information regarding the propensity of static charging. The effect of various parameters on powder charging can also be tested using the cyclone method in order to investigate their relationship with sticking. For example, it would be of interest to know how particle size and fragmentation affects triboelectric charging. Studies conducted on  $\alpha$ -lactose monohydrate by Rowley (74) show that the accumulation of powder charge increases inversely with particle size when contacting a stainless steel surface. Rowley (74) also demonstrated that

 $\alpha$ -lactose monohydrate becomes negatively charged when contacting stainless steel but positively charged when contacting PVC. However, ibuprofen in a formulation can rub against neighboring ibuprofen, MgSt, MCC, metal surface of a sieve, glass surface of blending jar and other possible surfaces before the powder even arrives at the press. Therefore it may be necessary to consider the effect of powder processing and choice of excipients that can affect charging.

An interesting question is whether charged fragments of ibuprofen on the tablet surface is picked up directly by the metal punch tip or by the existing adhered mass of ibuprofen on the tip or both. It is probable that this event occurs because fine particles were observed to coat the neck of the punch body. Die filling was observed to worsen with the ibuprofen formulations (30% IBU & 30% IBU-MIC). It was suggested earlier that this may be due to the charging of powder in the force feeder. In order to verify whether this event occurs, the net specific charge of the powder in force feeder frame can be measured at say cycle #200. The results can be compared to the net charge of the powder at the start of experimentation. If sticking of ibuprofen is facilitated by triboelectric charging, then powder charging in force feeder may increase the rate of sticking. The adhesion of particles mediated by surface charging is a well understood topic in the field of toner technology in laser printing. Perhaps it would be useful to explore the existing knowledge in this field in order to address such questions related to sticking.

Perhaps experimentation involving the manipulation static charge in powders can be studied to evaluate their effect on sticking. For example, humidity and powder moisture can affect the behavior of powder charging (73). However moisture can lead to the formation of liquid bridges between particles. It would be interesting to observe the effect of powder moisture on sticking in pure ibuprofen. Ibuprofen is poorly hygroscopic (see Appendix A) and exposing the powder to high humidity will not readily increase moisture content. A forceful technique can be used instead in which water is directly sprayed on to the powder bed using a micro sprayer as described by Nokhodchi et al (84). Another example of charge manipulation is the use of formulation components that can oppositely charge with the compound in order to neutralize net charge (73).

### **CHAPTER 7: CONCLUSIONS**

Sticking of powders during tablet compaction is a multifaceted phenomenon. There exists way too many parameters that can contribute to problem and some of which are discussed in this work. Therefore identifying the specific parameters that are responsible for sticking in a given formulation is a complicated task. One would need to carefully study the powder properties, tooling properties and compression conditions in order to distill down the list of parameters that can possibly contribute to the issue.

The experiments conducted in this work were aimed at understanding the behavior of sticking in materials and to explore how this phenomenon occurs in particularly with ibuprofen. The data collected in this experiment provides clues as to what may be the driving forces behind sticking. For example, the particle size reduction of ibuprofen was demonstrated to have a profound effect on sticking. Milling of ibuprofen resulted in the excessive static charging of the powder. It is not clear whether the increase in sticking with milled ibuprofen was due to the size reduction, triboelectric charging or both. However the data collected in this work suggests that both factors may contribute to the problem. Micronization of ibuprofen resulted in a significant reduction in particle size relative to MCC which indirectly suggests that ibuprofen has a higher propensity to fragment. Fragmentation of ibuprofen during tablet compaction would result in the generation of fine particles and it is suggested that this may be part of the mechanism by which sticking occurs.

Further work on the topic of sticking is absolutely necessary to understand the mechanisms by which this phenomenon occurs. Without such efforts, attempts at modifying formulations that are prone to sticking would largely be an expensive trial and error exercise. Sticking is currently an issue that plagues the tablet manufacturing industry. Often times, this

issue goes undetected during research scale operations and are only evident during large scale manufacturing. Therefore, there is a great unmet need to properly understand the issue, identify sticking of formulations early on during research and development and to effectively engineer formulations to mitigate this issue.

### **List of References**

- Bunker, Matt et al. "Characterising the surface adhesive behavior of tablet tooling components by atomic force microscopy." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 37.8 (2011): 875–885.
- 2. Danjo, Kazumi et al. "Effect of Water Content on Sticking During Compression." *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 45.4 (1997): 706–709. Print.
- 3. Goodhart, Frank W., Gustavo Mayorga, and Fred C. Ninger. "Measurement of Lower Punch Pulldown Force and Its Significance." *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 58.2 (1969): 248–251. Web. 14 Aug. 2012.
- 4. Kakimi, Kazuyuki, Toshiyuki Niwa, and Kazumi Danjo. "Influence of Compression Pressure and Velocity on Tablet Sticking." *Chemical and Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 58.12 (2010): 1565–1568. Print.
- 5. McDermott, Todd S. et al. "A material sparing method for quantitatively measuring tablet sticking." *Powder Technology* 212.1 (2011): 240–252. Web. 7 July 2012.
- 6. Mullarney, M.P., B.C. MacDonald, and A. Hutchins. "Assessing Tablet-Sticking Propensity." *Pharmaceutical Technology* 36.1 (2012): 57–62. Print.
- Naito, Shun-Ichi, Keiji Masui, and Tamotsu Shiraki. "Prediction of Tableting Problems Such as Capping and Sticking: Theoretical Calculations." *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 66.2 (1977): 254–259. Web. 23 Aug. 2012.
- Neilly, J., A. Vogt, and W. Dziki. "Characterization of Sticking Residue on Tablet Punch Faces by Scanning Electron Microscopy and X-Ray Mapping." *Microscopy and Microanalysis* 15.S2 (2009): 18–19. Web. 11 Aug. 2012.
- Roberts, Matthew, James L. Ford, Graeme S. MacLeod, John T. Fell, George W. Smith, and Philip H. Rowe. "Effects of surface roughness and chrome plating of punch tips on the sticking tendencies of model ibuprofen formulations." *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 55.9 (2003): 1223–1228. Web. 15 June 2012.
- Roberts, Matthew, James L. Ford, Graeme S. MacLeod, John T. Fell, George W. Smith, Philip H. Rowe, et al. "Effect of lubricant type and concentration on the punch tip adherence of model ibuprofen formulations." *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 56.3 (2004): 299– 305. Web. 7 July 2012.
- Mizes, Howard et al. "Small Particle Adhesion: Measurement and Control." Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects 165.1–3 (2000): 11–23. Web. 23 Aug. 2012.
- Otsuka, Akinobu et al. "Measurements of the Adhesive Force Between Particles of Powdered Organic Substances and a Glass Substrate by Means of the Impact Separation Method. I. Effect of Temperature." CHEMICAL & PHARMACEUTICAL BULLETIN 31.12 (1983): 4483–4488. Web. 23 Aug. 2012.
- Otsuka, Akinobu et al. "Measurement of the Adhesive Force Between Particles of Powdered Materials and a Glass Substrate by Means of the Impact Separation Method. III. : Effect of Particle Shape and Surface Asperity." *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 36.2 (1988): 741– 749. Print.
- Arakawa, Masafumi, and Shinichi Yasuda. "The Measurement of Interaction Force on Microparticles." *Journal of the Society of Materials Science, Japan* 26.288 (1977): 858–862. Print.

- 15. Shimada, Y. et al. "Measurement of the Adhesive Force of Fine Particles on Tablet Surfaces and Method of Their Removal." Drug Development & Industrial Pharmacy 26.2 (2000): 149. Print.
- Shimada, Yasuhiro et al. "The Development of an Apparatus for Measuring the Adhesive Force Between Fine Particles." Journal of the Society of Powder Technology, Japan 37.9 (2000): 658–664. Print.
- Shimada, Yasuhiro, Yorinobu Yonezawa, and Hisakazu Sunada. "Measurement and Evaluation of the Adhesive Force Between Particles by the Direct Separation Method." Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 92.3 (2003): 560–568. Web. 31 July 2012.
- SHUNICHI, NAITO, and NAKAMICHI KOICHI. "Studies on Techniques of Manufacturing Pharmacy. I. Prediction of Tableting Troubles such as Capping and Sticking. (I)." Chemical & pharmaceutical bulletin 17.12 (1969): 2507–2514. Print.
- 19. SHUNICHI, NAITO, SHIMIZU IPPEY, and IWAKI SHIRO. "Techniques for Manufacturing Pharmacy. II. Prediction of Tableting Troubles such as Capping and Sticking. (2)." *Chemical & pharmaceutical bulletin* 19.9 (1971): 1949–1956. Print.
- Toyoshima, Kenzo et al. "Quantitative evaluation of tablet sticking by surface roughness measurement." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 46.3 (1988): 211–215. Web. 7 July 2012.
- 21. Waimer, F et al. "A novel method for the detection of sticking of tablets." *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology* 4.3 (1999): 359–367. Web. 20 June 2012.
- Waimer, Frank et al. "The Influence of Engravings on the Sticking of Tablets. Investigations with an Instrumented Upper Punch." *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology* 4.3 (1999): 369–375. Web. 7 July 2012.
- Wang, Jennifer J., Tonglei Li, et al. "Modeling of adhesion in tablet compression-I. Atomic force microscopy and molecular simulation." *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 92.4 (2003): 798–814. Web. 7 July 2012.
- Wang, Jennifer J., Micael A. Guillot, et al. "Modeling of adhesion in tablet compression. II. Compaction studies using a compaction simulator and an instrumented tablet press." *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 93.2 (2004): 407–417. Web. 8 July 2012.
- Weber, Daniel, Yu Pu, and Charles Cooney. "Quantification of Lubricant Activity of Magnesium Stearate by Atomic Force Microscopy." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 34.10 (2008): 1097–1099.
- 26. Mitrove, Ampol, and L. L. Augsburger. "Adhesion of Tablets in a Rotary Tablet Press I. Instrumentation and Preliminary Study of Variables Affecting Adhesion." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 6.4 (1980): 331–377. Web. 4 July 2012.
- Mitrevej, Krongtong T., and L. L. Augsburger. "Adhesion of Tablets in a Rotary Tablet Press II. Effects of Blending Time, Running Time, and Lubricant Concentration." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 8.2 (1982): 237–282. Web. 4 July 2012.
- 28. Krupp, Helmar. "Particle Adhesion Theory and Experiment." Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 1.2 (1967): 111–239. Web. 26 Aug. 2012.
- 29. Booth, S. W., and J. M. Newton. "Experimental Investigation of Adhesion Between Powders and Surfaces." *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 39.9 (1987): 679–684. Web. 25 Aug. 2012.

- 30. Mullarney, M.P. et al. "A material sparing method for evaluating powder sticking tendency to metal surfaces." (AAPS2008-001672) [AAPS Abstract].
- 31. Schmidt, P.C. et al. "A NOVEL METHOD TO DETECT STICKING OF TABLETS BY MEANS OF AN INSTRUMENTED UPPER PUNCH." (0467 1998 AAPS Annual Meeting) [AAPS Abstract].
- 32. Lo, S. et al. "Application of Near IR spectroscopy in small-scale lubrication sensitivity study" (AAPS2003-002817) [AAPS Abstract].
- 33. Fubara, J.O. et al. "Assessment of the Influence of Compression Tooling Finishes on Tablet Picking and Sticking" (AAPS2003-002553) [AAPS Abstract].
- Simmons, Daryl M., and Daniel S. Gierer. "A material sparing test to predict punch sticking during formulation development." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* (2011): 1–7. Web. 7 July 2012.
- 35. Parker, A. et al. "Characterising the surface properties of pharmaceutical tooling components with atomic force microscopy" (W5483) [AAPS Abstract].
- 36. Yin, S. et al. "Effect of API Crystal Morphology on Performance-Indicating Bulk Properties" (M1150) [AAPS Abstract].
- 37. Mei, X. et al. "In Vitro Characterization of Melt Granulated Formulations: Study of Stickiness by Texture Analysis" (AAPS2007-000474) [AAPS Abstract].
- 38. Zhu, H. et al. "Influence of mixing time and blending conditions on lubrication with magnesium stearate during small-scale formulation design" (AAPS2003-001078) [AAPS Abstract].
- 39. Saniocki, I. et al. "Investigation of Sticking during Tablet Manufacture Compaction of binary mixtures of ibuprofen and Ludipress®" (R6467) [AAPS Abstract].
- 40. Lum, S. et al. "*MINIATURIZED SCALE (PUNCH ADHESION) TESTS TO SPARE MATERIALS IN FORMULATION DEVELOPMENT*" (AAPS2007-002629) [AAPS Abstract].
- 41. Wang, J. et al. "Modeling of Adhesion in Tablet Compression" (3477) [AAPS Abstract].
- 42. Simmons, D.M. et al. "*Optimization of an Immediate Release Tablet Formulation using a Punch Sticking Test*" (AAPS2009-002057) [AAPS Abstract].
- 43. McDermott, T.S. et al. "Quantitation of API Layering on Tablet Punch Faces: A Method for Predicting Sticking" (AAPS2009-001013) [AAPS Abstract].
- 44. Lum, S.K. et al. "QUANTITATIVE AND MINIATURIZED ASSESSMENT OF EXTERNAL LUBRICATION TO REDUCE TOOLING ADHESION IN EARLY FORMULATION DEVELOPMENT" (AAPS2008-003176) [AAPS Abstract].
- 45. Lum, S.K. et al. "QUANTITATIVE AND MINIATURIZED ASSESSMENT OF TOOLING ADHESION MAPPING THE BOUNDARY OF LUBRICANT FAILURE/EFFECTIVENESS" (AAPS2008-002092) [AAPS Abstract].
- 46. Mullarney, M. et al. "Quantitative assessment of tablet sticking propensity using a punch with a weighable tip" (T3279) [AAPS Abstract].
- 47. Shi, G.H. et al. "Quantitative Small Scale Sticking Test for Formulation Screening and Optimization" (AAPS2003-001163) [AAPS Abstract].
- 48. Holstine, B. et al. *"Small-scale determination of sticking propensity"* (AAPS2005-001734) [AAPS Abstract].
- 49. Lee, L. et al. "Study of stickiness of model pharmaceutical powders onto punch surfaces: Effect of angle and volume of punch identation" (AAPS2007-003722) [AAPS Abstract].
- 50. Lam, K.K., and J.M. Newton. "Investigation of applied compression on the adhesion of powders to a substrate surface." *Powder Technology* 65.1–3 (1991): 167–175. Web. 8 July 2012.

- Lam, K.K., and J.M. Newton. "Influence of particle size on the adhesion behaviour of powders, after application of an initial press-on force." *Powder Technology* 73.2 (1992): 117–125. Web. 7 July 2012.
- 52. Lam, K.K., and J.M. Newton. "Effect of Temperature on Particulate Solid Adhesion to a Substrate Surface." *Powder Technology* 73.3 (1992): 267–274. Web. 27 Aug. 2012.
- Lam, K.K., and J.M. Newton. "The Influence of the Time of Application of Contact Pressure Onparticle Adhesion to a Substrate Surface." *Powder Technology* 76.2 (1993): 149–154. Web. 27 Aug. 2012.
- Abdel-Hamid, Sameh, and Gabriele Betz. "A novel tool for the prediction of tablet sticking during high speed compaction." *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology* (2011): 1–8. Web. 7 July 2012.
- 55. Schmidt, P C, K.-J. Steffens, and G KNEBEL. *Vereinfachung Der Registrierung Physikalischer Parameter Bei Der Tablettierung. 3. Mitt.: Quantitative Erfassung Des "Klebens" Von Tabletten.* Vol. 45. Aulendorf, ALLEMAGNE: Cantor, 1983. Die Pharmazeutische Industrie.
- Saniocki, Ines, Albrecht Sakmann, and Claudia S. Leopold. "How Suitable Is the Measurement of Take-off Forces for Detection of Sticking During Direct Compression of Various Ibuprofen Tablet Formulations?" *Pharmaceutical Development and Technology* (2012): 1–9. Web. 5 Sept. 2012.
- 57. "Tablet Breaking Force." United States Pharmacopea and National Formulary (USP37–NF32). Vol 31, General Chapters <1217>. United State Pharmacopea Convention, 2015. 1146–1148. Print.
- 58. Tousey, Michael D. "Tablet Press Operation- Sticking and picking Some causes and remedies." (2003): n. pag. Web.
- 59. Aoki, S., and Danjo K. "Effect of tableting conditions on the sticking of tablet using ibuprofen." Yakugaku zasshi : Journal of the Pharmaceutical Society of Japan 118.11 (1998): 511–518. Print.
- Uchimoto, Takeaki et al. "Newly Developed Surface Modification Punches Treated with Alloying Techniques Reduce Sticking during the Manufacture of Ibuprofen Tablets." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 441.1–2 (2013): 128–134. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 30 Mar. 2015.
- 61. Waknis, Vrushali et al. "Molecular Basis of Crystal Morphology-Dependent Adhesion Behavior of Mefenamic Acid During Tableting." *Pharmaceutical Research* 1–13. *link.springer.com*. Web. 13 Sept. 2013.
- Schumann, S., and G. D. Searle. "The Effects of Chromium Nitride ION Bombardment Treatment of Tablet Tooling on Tablet Adherence." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 18.10 (1992): 1037–1061. *informahealthcare.com (Atypon)*. Web. 2 Apr. 2015.
- 63. Roberts, Matthew et al. "Effect of Punch Tip Geometry and Embossment on the Punch Tip Adherence of a Model Ibuprofen Formulation." *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 56.7 (2004): 947–950. *Wiley Online Library*. Web. 22 Feb. 2013.
- Sendall, F. E. J., and J. N. Staniforth. "A Study of Powder Adhesion to Metal Surfaces during Compression of Effervescent Pharmaceutical Tablets." *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 38.7 (1986): 489–493. Wiley Online Library. Web. 25 Aug. 2012.
- Fell, J. T., and J. M. Newton. "Determination of Tablet Strength by the Diametral-Compression Test." *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 59.5 (1970): 688–691. Wiley Online *Library*. Web. 4 Apr. 2015.
- Pitt, K. G., J. M. Newton, and P. Stanley. "Tensile Fracture of Doubly-Convex Cylindrical Discs under Diametral Loading." *Journal of Materials Science* 23.8 (1988): 2723–2728. *link.springer.com.ezproxy2.library.drexel.edu*. Web. 4 Apr. 2015.

- 67. Petean, P. G. C., and M. L. Aguiar. "Determining the Adhesion Force between Particles and Rough Surfaces." *Powder Technology* 274 (2015): 67–76. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 4 Apr. 2015.
- 68. Yin, S, V Waknis, and S Badawy. "Effect of API Crystal Morphology on Performance-Indicating Bulk Properties, Poster #M1150." Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. 2010.
- 69. Podczeck, Fridrun. "Investigations into the Reduction of Powder Adhesion to Stainless Steel Surfaces by Surface Modification to Aid Capsule Filling." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 178.1 (1999): 93–100. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 5 Apr. 2015.
- 70. *Technical Brochure Co-Processed Lactose MicroceLac® 100,* Meggle Excipients & Technology. 2014.
- Patel, Sarsvatkumar, Aditya Mohan Kaushal, and Arvind Kumar Bansal. "Compression Physics in the Formulation Development of Tablets." *Critical reviews in therapeutic drug carrier systems* 23.1 (2006): 1–65. Print.
- Tejedor, Maria Badal et al. "Tablet Mechanics Depend on Nano and Micro Scale Adhesion, Lubrication and Structure." International Journal of Pharmaceutics n. pag. ScienceDirect. Web. 8 Apr. 2015.
- Karner, Stefan, and Nora Anne Urbanetz. "The Impact of Electrostatic Charge in Pharmaceutical Powders with Specific Focus on Inhalation-Powders." *Journal of Aerosol Science* 42.6 (2011): 428–445. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 9 Apr. 2015.
- Rowley, G. "Quantifying Electrostatic Interactions in Pharmaceutical Solid Systems." International Journal of Pharmaceutics 227.1–2 (2001): 47–55. ScienceDirect. Web. 16 Apr. 2015.
- Wagner, Carl Moritz, Miriam Pein, and Jörg Breitkreutz. "Roll Compaction of Mannitol: Compactability Study of Crystalline and Spray-Dried Grades." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 453.2 (2013): 416–422. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 18 Apr. 2015.
- Vogt, A., J. Neilly, and W. Dziki. "Characterization of Tablets with Defects Related to Material Sticking to Punch Faces During Pharmaceutical Manufacturing." *Microscopy and Microanalysis* 15.S2 (2009): 380–381. *ProQuest*. Web. 19 Apr. 2015.
- Gordon, R. E., C. L. VanKoevering, and D. J. Reits. "Utilization of Differential Scanning Calorimetry in the Compatibility Screening of Ibuprofen with the Stearate Lubricants and Construction of Phase Diagrams." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 21.1 (1984): 99– 105. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 20 Apr. 2015.
- 78. ALSIRAWAN, MHD BASHIR et al. "DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION OF A SIMPLE HPLC METHOD FOR THE DETERMINATION OF IBUPROFEN STICKING ONTO PUNCH FACES." International Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences 5 (2013): n. pag. Print.
- Otsuka, Akinobu et al. "Measurements of the Adhesive Force between Particles of Powdered Organic Substances and a Glass Substrate by Means of the Impact Separation Method. II. Effect of Addition of Light Anhydrous Silicic Acid on the Adhesive Force of Potato Starch." *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 33.9 (1985): 4054–4056. *J-Stage*. Web.
- Bejugam, Naveen K., Shravan K. Mutyam, and Gita N. Shankar. "Tablet Formulation of an Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient with a Sticking and Filming Problem: Direct Compression and Dry Granulation Evaluations." *Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy* 41.2 (2013): 333–341. *informahealthcare.com (Atypon)*. Web. 8 Apr. 2015.
- Tanino, Tadatsugu et al. "Occurrence of Capping Due to Insufficient Air Escape during Tablet Compression and a Method to Prevent It." *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin* 43.10 (1995): 1772–1779. Print.
- 82. Tita, Bogdan et al. "Compatibility Study between Ibuprofen and Excipients in Their Physical Mixtures." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 105.2 (2011): 517+. Print.

- Tita, Dumitru et al. "Compatibility Study of the Acetylsalicylic Acid with Different Solid Dosage Forms Excipients." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 112.1 (2013): 407+. Print.
- Nokhodchi, A. et al. "The Effect of Moisture Content on the Energies Involved in the Compaction of Ibuprofen." *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 120.1 (1995): 13–20. *ScienceDirect*. Web. 8 Apr. 2015.
- Narurkar, Arvind N., A. Rashid Purkaystha, and Pai-Chang Sheen. "Effect of Various Factors on the Corrosion and Rusting of Tooling Material Used for Tablet Manufacturing." Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy 11.8 (1985): 1487–1495. informahealthcare.com (Atypon). Web. 12 May 2015.
- 86. Dwivedi, Sarvajna Kumar. "Analysis of Particle Deformation Mechanisms and Compact Expansion during Compaction on a High Speed Rotary Tablet Press." (1992): n. pag. *circle.ubc.ca*. Web. 17 June 2015.
- 87. Mollereau, Germinal et al. "Image Analysis Quantification of Sticking and Picking Events of Pharmaceutical Powders Compressed on a Rotary Tablet Press Simulator." *Pharmaceutical Research* (2013): n. pag. *CrossRef*. Web. 1 July 2013.



Appendix A: Moisture Sorption of Ibuprofen.



Appendix B: Thermal data on Ibuprofen.

Differential scanning calorimetry and thermogravimetric analysis of Ibuprofen. Data collected at a heating rate of 10°C/min.



Differential Scanning Calorimetry of Ibuprofen. Ibuprofen was heated at 10°C/min to melt and then quench cooled to -100°C. Ibuprofen was re-heated at 20°C/min to room temperature. The glass transition of amorphous Ibuprofen is estimated to be at approximately -46°C.



Appendix C: Moisture Sorption of Acetylsalicylic Acid



Appendix D: Photomicrographs of Acetylsalicylic Acid

ASA (AS-IS), 5x Objective, Partially-polarized light.



ASA (AS-IS), 40x Objective, Partially-polarized light.



**Appendix E: Particle size of micronized MCC** 

Micronization of Avicel PH101 (also referred to as Microcrystalline Cellulose, MCC) using the same milling conditions used for micronization of ibuprofen. Micronization of MCC resulted in an approximately 55% reduction in mean size (x50). This data is presented here for comparing the ease of particle size reduction by air-jet milling between MCC and ibuprofen.

9.240

Avicel PH101 Micronized

28.815

69.704

# Appendix F: SEM of Ibuprofen



# SEM image of Ibuprofen captured at 1kV.



A zoomed in inset image showing the surface texture of ibuprofen.



# Appendix G: Effect of solvent on sticking

Appearance of ibuprofen on punch tip after cleaning tip with methanol.



Appendix H: Sticking in 100% ibuprofen

Appearance of the tablet surface of 100% ibuprofen affected by sticking. A 10mm flat faced punch was used to produce 5 tablets to a relative density of 0.92. Shown here is a photograph of tablet #3.



Appendix I: Particle size of Acetylsalicylic Acid

x10: 74μm, x50: 216μm, x90: 427μm

### Appendix J: List of Acronyms.

- AFM Atomic Force Microscopy
- API Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient
- ASA Acetylsalicylic Acid
- CNIB Chromium Nitride Ion Bombarded
- DSC Differential Scanning Calorimetry
- FEM Finite Element Method
- FFRE Flat Face Radius Edge
- HPLC High Performance Liquid Chromatography
- IBU Ibuprofen
- IR Infrared Spectroscopy
- MCC Microcrystalline Cellulose
- MgSt Magnesium stearate
- MIC Micronized
- PEG Polyethylene Glycol
- PSA Particle Size Analysis
- PTFE Polytetrafluoroethylene (Teflon®)
- R&D Research and Development
- RH Relative Humidity
- SC Standard Cup
- SCR Scrapper Force
- SEM Scanning Electron Microscope
- TSR Tablet Surface Roughness